

_	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
	and the first sector of the se

COMPUTRACE 6.1 USER'S GUIDE

This manual is intended solely for use by owners of Thermon CompuTrace® Design Suite Software program. This manual is considered proprietary and is protected by copyright. Use by others without expressed written consent of Thermon, Inc. is strictly prohibited.

> Thermon, Inc. Version 6.1 | Revision 5 | October 2022 www.thermon.com

Contents

Section I. CompuTrace Design Suite Overview	4
What's New?	4
Minimum System Requirements	4
Design Limitations	4
Section II. Getting Started with CompuTrace Desigr	ז Suite 5
Select a Project Screen	5
Create New Project Wizard	5
Project Reference	6
Set Project Units	6
Design Defaults	7
Project Level Miscellaneous Defaults	8
New Project Created Confirmation Screen	8
Navigating the Main Design Window	8
Menu Bar	8
File Menu	9
Design Menu	10
Preferences Menu	10
Reports Menu	10
Help Menu	11
Tool Bar	12
Circuit Manager/Segment Definition Layout	12
Working with the Circuit Manager Pane	13
Default Project Circuit	13
Template Circuits	13
Circuit Manager Reports	14
Working with the Segment Definition Pane	15
Circuit and Segment Data Fields	20

Circuit Data Fields	21
Input Data - Data Tab	21
Input Data - Heat Up/Cool Down Tab	27
Design Results – Components Tab	28
Design Results – Bill of Materials Tab	
Reference Drawings	
Equipment Coordinates	31
Segment Data Fields	
Input Data – Data Tab	32
Input Data - Heat Sink Allowances	
Design Results – Data Tab	35
Design Results - Heat Up/Cool Down Graph	37
Generating Circuit Designs	
Manage External Load Circuits	
Grid View Layout	
Creating/Editing Lists in CompuTrace	
Process Fluid Data	
Pipe Data	40
Insulation Data	41
Heat Sink Data	42
Using the Search and Replace Feature	44
Section III. CompuTrace for Server Projects	46
Using Server Projects	46
Connecting to a New Server	46
Connecting to an Existing Server	46
Import Options for Remote Projects	46
Server Projects Tab	47

Section I. CompuTrace Design Suite Overview

CompuTrace Design Suite heat tracing design and estimating software is provided for the users of Thermon, Inc. heating products. It provides the tools necessary to design and specify a complete electrical heat tracing system.

What's New?

- This latest rendition of the CompuTrace heat tracing design program has been updated with the main focal point being on making it more intuitive while adding new views and abilities. Some of the new features include:
- Improved User Interface Layout, including realignment of circuit-level and segment-level input fields
- New Circuit View Grid, offering an optional method for data entry
- Enhanced Bill of Materials customization abilities
- Improved Reporting Systems
- Improved Performance Speed for large projects

Minimum System Requirements

CompuTrace Design Suite is intended for use on any computer system running Microsoft Windows® and meets the following minimum requirements:

Thick Client Requirements

- Minimum requirement, Windows 7®; Windows 10 recommended
- Microsoft Excel 2007® or above
- 2 GB RAM (minimum) 4 GB RAM (recommended)
- 100 GB Hard Disk Drive (recommended)
- 3 GB Free Space (recommended)
- 1.5 GHz Processor
- Mouse or compatible pointing device

Design Limitations

CompuTrace Design Suite does not address the following design situations:

- Tank or vessel heating
- Underground piping
- Condensate prevention applications
- Flowing product applications

For information on or design assistance with any of these applications, please contact your local Thermon engineering office. Contact information can be found at <u>www.thermon.com</u>.

Section II. Getting Started with CompuTrace Design Suite

To Start CompuTrace Design Suite:

Click on the application icon on your desktop.



Select a Project Screen

The screen below will appear:

Select a P	Project Database: Com	npul	Frace.6.1.20.13-0a90bb9b	-98d6-48	0b-b931-192554079a	alc	_		×
Import									
Local Projects	Remote Projects								
Project N	umber	1	Project Name			Last Modified		Version	
	New Project				Open Project		Delete Pro	oject	

This screen includes an **Import** menu above two project tabs, **Local Projects** and **Remote Projects**.

Import - This menu item allows the user to import an existing CompuTrace 6.1 file on the local computer via .xml format.

N.B. A CompuTrace 6.0.x file cannot be imported and used in CompuTrace 6.1.x

Local Projects - This type of project mode is for single users working on a project. The user is able to either create, open, or delete a project. If CompuTrace Design Suite has been installed for the first time on the computer, no previous projects have been created. Thus, both the **Open Project** and **Delete Project** options are disabled.

NOTE: If any CompuTrace version 6.0 or higher has been installed on the computer and projects designed with that version exist on the computer, these will be listed in the **Local Projects** pane. If a project from a previous version is selected, the program will open the project selection screen for the version of CompuTrace used to perform the designs.

Launching Different Version

This project is located in a different version of the application. It appears that version is still installed, and we will launch that version now.

OK

23

Remote Projects - This type of project mode is for users working in collaboration with other users on a project. The user is able to either create a new Remote Project or connect to a currently existing Remote Project that another user has already created.

😂 Select a Project Database	e: CompuTraceServer.6.1.5.13 - U	JSSMCT6PRD		- 🗆	×
Import					
Local Projects Remote Projects					
Active Server Connection:					~
Project Number	/ Project Name		Last Modified	Version	
New Project		Open Project	D	elete Project	

Refer to the **Using Remote Projects** section of this manual for more information on how to set up new Remote Projects or connect to existing Remote Projects.

Create New Project Wizard

When "New Project" is selected on the Local Projects screen or on the **Remote Projects** screen, the Create New Project Wizard is opened.

SNew Project Wizard	
	Create New Project
	This wizard will walk you through the process of creating a new design project.
	To continue, click Next.
	< Back Next > Cancel

The New Project Wizard will now begin the creation of a new design project, click **Next**.

NOTE: In the next few steps, if the **Cancel** button is pressed at any time, the new project currently being set up will be voided and return the user to the **Select a Project** screen.

Project Reference

The information on this screen is for reference only, which will be displayed on reports and can be used to identify the origin of the report or design.

SNew Project Wizard	Accession	1000
Project Reference Fill in the project reference values for the new proj	iect.	
Project Name *	Project Manager	
Project Number *	Designer	
Job Number	Purchase Order	
Customer	PO Amount	
Location	Date Entered	4/19/2019 🔻
SBU	Date Due	_
Remarks	-	
	*	

NOTE: All fields are optional with the exception of **Project Name** and **Project Number**. Project Name must be unique for each project in the database.

Enter the applicable reference information and click **Next**.

Set Project Units

New Project Wizard	X
Set Project Units Specify the units this project will use.	
Pipe / Insulation Units:	Imperal Pipe / Imperal Insulation Toperal Pipe / Metric Russian Metric Pipe / Metric Russian
Temperature Units:	®≉ ⊙≪
Other Units (Speed, Length, Power, etc)	© Imperial ⊘ Metric
Electrical Codes and Standards	NEC: Ordinary/Divisions
	Save Project Configuration
	< Back Next > Cancel

The information on this screen sets the project units for measurements and temperatures, as well as the selection of the applicable electrical codes and standards for the application.

NOTE: The selections made on this screen can only be changed at this level and cannot be altered once the project has been created.

<u>Electrical Codes & Standards:</u> Selections under this menu define the electrical standards used to define how design aspects such as T-ratings are determined. All designs in a project must be performed to meet the same standard. This selection cannot be changed after the project is created.

<u>ATEX (Ordinary/Zones)</u>: European Union using IEC Zones method approach to European Norms (EN) based on IEC 60079-10-1/-2, EN 60079-30-1/-2 and IEC/ EN 62395-1/2.

<u>IECEx (Ordinary/Zones):</u> International (other than European Union and North America) using IEC Zones method approach based on IEC 60079-10-1/-2, IEC/ IEEE 60079-30-1/-2 and IEC/EN 62395-1/2.

NEC (Ordinary/Divisions): United States using Class and Divisions method approach based on NFPA 70 Article 500, IEC/IEEE 60079-30-1/-2 and IEEE 515.

<u>NEC (Ordinary/Zones)</u>: United States using Zones method approach based on NFPA 70 Article 505, IEC/ IEEE 60079-30-1/-2 and IEEE 515.

<u>CEC (Ordinary/Divisions)</u>: Canada using Class and Divisions method approach based on CSA 22.1 , CSA 22.2 No. 130 and CAN/CSA-C22.2 NO. 60079-30-1/-2.

<u>CEC (Ordinary/Zones)</u>: Canada using Zones method approach based on CAN/CSA 22.1 Section 18, CSA 22.2 No. 130-16 and CAN/CSA-C22.2 No. 60079-30-1/-2.

When clicked.

Save Project Configuration

the button will save the current configuration settings for the units selected. Note: If the current configuration settings are saved using this button, any new projects created will utilize the unit selections just saved as the default.

Confirm	X
i	Project configuration saved.
	ОК

Enter the appropriate information and click **Next.**

Design Defaults

The information on this screen sets defaults for various design criteria.

ew Project	Wizard (CompuTrace.6.1.20.13-132909a6	1828-48c2-bc63-ddaa2a4f8f06 - (LocalDB)\v11.0]		-		
gn Defaul Set the de	its esign defaults.					
	Caution Label Interval	30.0	ft			
	Max. Spiral Ratio	1.90				
	Orcumferential Fixing Tape	FT-1L and FT-1H				
	Aluminum Tape	AL-20L and AL-20H				
	Default Termination Allowance	1.7	ft			
	Default Construction Allowance	0.0	5			
					0	

<u>Caution Label Interval:</u> Used to determine the number of caution labels to be included in the Bill of Materials. The default value is 10 ft (3.0 m).

Max. Spiral Ratio: For spiral designs, it signifies the length of heater per length of pipe. If the required spiral ratio exceeds the value in this field, the program will indicate that the design is inappropriate for spiraling and will recommend parallel passes. The maximum allowable input for this field is 1.90.

NOTE: The selection of a spiral ratio made on this screen can only be changed at this level and cannot be altered once the project has been created.

<u>Circumferential Fixing Tape:</u> A drop down list containing 2 entries:

<u>FT-1L and FT-1H:</u> When selected, allows the program to determine whether to include the lower temperature FT-1L or the higher temperature FT-1H in the Bill of Materials for each circuit.

FT-1H Only: When selected, dictates that the program should only include FT-1H in the Bill of Materials. If a design file contains designs appropriate for both types of fixing tape, there could be confusion in the field which could result in the incorrect tape being used. In these situations, it might be better to simply use the higher temperature tape for all designs.

<u>Aluminum Tape:</u> A drop down list containing four entries used to specify which aluminum tape to include in the Bill of Materials for circuits that utilize it.

<u>AL-20L and AL-20H:</u> Program selects the appropriate 2" wide aluminum tape based on temperature criteria for each design.

<u>AL-20H Only:</u> Program will only include the higher temperature 2" wide aluminum tape in the Bill of Materials for designs utilizing aluminum tape.

<u>AL-30L and AL-30H:</u> Program selects the appropriate 3" wide aluminum tape based on temperature criteria for each designs.

<u>AL-30H Only:</u> Program will only include the higher temperature 3" wide aluminum tape in the Bill of Materials for designs utilizing aluminum tape.

Default Termination Allowance: Applicable to parallel resistance heaters only, it is the length of heater that the program should allocate for each power connection, splice or termination. This field allows the program to include the amount of heater traveling from the pipe to the junction box in the amperage calculations and Bill of Materials. Default value is 1.7 ft (0.5 m).

Default Construction Allowance: Enter a percentage of the design length that should be added to account for field variances and routing. The allowance will be added to the overall heater length when determining heater output, electrical loading and BoM quantities.

Enter the appropriate information and click **Next**.

Project Level Miscellaneous Defaults

This screen allows the user to define the default controller type that will be available for later selection in the circuit bills of materials. Note: this can be overridden within the project if required.

Project Wizard [CompuTrace.6.1.20.13-13250946-f828-48c2-bc63-ddaa2a4f8006 - (LocalD8)\v11.0]	-	
t Level Miscellaneous Defaults		
tontroller Type		
Mechanical Thermostat		
) Electronic Controllers		
	< Bark Next >	
	K DOUX NEXT /	 -

New Project Created Confirmation Screen



This screen confirms the design parameters entered for the new project. Should any modifications need to be made to any of the previous data, click **Back**, <u>Cancel</u> to void, or **Finish** to confirm the creation of the new project.

When **Finish** is chosen the confirmation screen will close.

NOTE: It may take a few seconds for CompuTrace Design Suite to load the main project screen shown below:

					La contra de la co						
suit Manager mant Default Circuits System Defi	wit Crost surber of C	equita: 6/0			Degment Definition						
Spritefeesse Tenplete Orsute Researd Orsute	Drawing	lev Sheel	(Feels								
it: <design refere<="" th=""><th>nce></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th>egment Name></th><th></th><th></th><th></th><th></th></design>	nce>						egment Name>				
Cola Designikas.ht kaf. D	ng. Bala Coord.					Input Data Design	Realts				
Colla Designikasuta kat. D	ng, Bala Cont.					Dets meat test Al	ites/ts lovences				
Code Design Results Ref. D [rest:Up/Cod Down] Rysk Type	ng. Equip. Coord.	Terperatures		Area Classification		Describers Design Deter meat Sets All Pipe	kesits Iovances			Information	
Net Desprikes.its Kaf D Next Us/Col Down We Type	ng, Baja Cont.	Terperaturas Terperaturas		Aves ClassReador Cless		Deputõete bespri Dete mest bek Al Pipe Tupe	itesits losances			Information Segment Name	
We beginked in the	ng, Egyp, Coord. 	Terperaturas RevealControllients Naintenance Terp.		Area Quasticator Clem Direson		Dest Des Design Dets Head Sei All Pipe Tipe Seiv	Results Reserves			Information Segment Name Hodule	
Dete Despriseurs lief. D [Inst Op Cost Down] hele Type 5 of	ng Bala Cont	forperatures layou/Caribolland Handmance Temp.		Area Quasticator Clem Direson Group		Post Data Design Data mest Sek Al Pipe Tipo Sea	Realts Ionances			Information Segment Name Module	
Defa Designiticautia ikat D Inical US Confidence Inical State Stat	*6 East-Cont.	Torperaturas laysutControllien5 Randenance Terge, Raic, Process Tergerab	un	Area Quasticator Clem Drason Grap T-Cless	NA NA NA	Post Deter Design Deter Heart Sek All Pipe Tipos Sear Length	keuts keanas NA. NA.			Information Segment Name	
Certo Designiticatific idad. Di Invest Col Cost Devel Invest Tron Stool at Configuration TipA http: Investigation	ng Sala Cont.	Temperaturas Tayou/Controlliend Mantenance Temp. Maix: Process Temperatu Maix Lated Process		Area DassRoten Cism Dinson Drap T-Class Autopriton Temp.	NA NA NA NA	PostDeta Desgo Deta Insectisia Al Pipe Tipe Size Length Length	Assults Investors		>	brfamation Segment None Moskie Wark Peckage Area	
Deta Desgnitesute kat. D Inser Col Col Devel Intel Tope Stol at Configuration (NA get er Velage	чр. Барр. Сонт. 	Temperatures General Controllients Handemance Temp. Han: Process Serperats Han Eynel Process Han Product Temp.	4 4 4 4	Aves Cassification Class Division Driven T-Class Autogration Temps	tyle tyle tyle tylerfy RT	PostDeta Desgy Deta Posetbek Al Pipe Tipo Son Langth Langth Const. Allowance	No. 10		>	Sofewatan Segnent Nane Mokie Weih Peukage Aina Cuidoner Line #	
Corls Despylateurs lat. D Instruction Cool Down And Topic Stol Stol Stol And Configuration PUA Inpr Mer Village Lat Downer Ster Lat Downer Ste	vg. Equp. Coord.	Terporalizes layud/ord-sklend Rachtrance Terp. Rac. Process Terporal Rac. Rosal Strongerab Rac. Rosalet Terp. Re. Anbert	4 4 4 4 7	Aves Cassification Class Disson Drace T-Class Autogration Temp. Allocation Optione	hik Ka Kali Kali	Post Deter Insert Sei All Post Insert Sei All Post Insert Insert Seiter Factor Const. Albancor Inserter Inserter	Reals		> Um n %	Sofernation Segment-Name Module Wash Peology Area Customer Line # Dist. Reforement #	
Core Despriteate lat. D Institution Cord Dean Aver Topic at Configuration Date Configuration Date Willings at Dealer Ster of Reader Topic Public	vg. Equp. Coord.	Terperatures layudCordisDand Rachanaca Terp, Rac, Poosa Terperat Rac (peet Proces) Rac Product Terp, Hin, Anbent Rac, Anbent	54 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	Area Classification Clims Drison Drison F-Class Autogration Temp. Alboration Centere Alboration Centere Alboration Centere	98 98 98 98 98	Post Free Dealer	Analas	Talar	> U99	Segment None Nodule Nodule Area Custome Line # Custome Drawing #	
Cele Despitestra lat. D lest Cod Despitestra lat. D lest Cod Despite lat. Configuration potential configuration potential configuration potential cod cod Despite lat. Breater Tage potential cod cod Despite lat. Breater Tage potential cod cod Despite lat. D lest Cod Desp	veg. Eggsp. Coord.	Temperaturas layus/Controlliend Rachenance Temp. Nac. Process Temperati Nas Epister Temp- Nas, Ambent Nas, Andrewi Sas Lip-Andremi		Area ClassRoaten Class Distan Distan Distan Distan T-Class Autophton Temp. Alexator Colore Uller Spinling Temperature Control	na Na Na Na Na	Post first leage Post inset tak Al Post See Length Set Setty Factor Cost. Allowance Dealation () One Leave	Anula Ionica Da Da	_ The Lopes	> U00 n % %	Sofareadan Segment Name Hokle Usek Peskage Ana Castone Une # Castone Oneing # HEQ Tag Namber	
Cells Despitisator (at. 0) Insertion Cold Dean Automation Cold Dean Automation at Configuration (A) Automation (A) Automation (A) Automation (A) Automation (A) NA Automation (A) NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA	veg. Egapt. Coord.	Nerporatura Jaryu-Contolitians Handerance Teep. Nac. Indoas Simperatur Nac Type: Process Nac Type: Process Nac Type: Teep. Hin, Ambent Stac Lyb. Andrest Stac Lyb. Andrest	4	Area DassReation Clean Distorn Graup T Class Autophon Temp. - Alexatorn Cottorn - Meer Spiriolog - Temperature Cottor Tore	98 99 98 98 98 99 99 99 90 90 90 90	Pectfore pege Determentation Ppe See See See See See See See See See Se	Аниля Колиска Каниска	C fratique	> U00 n % 5	biliveator Popret-Nane Hotole Weih-Peskage Ansa Castoner Line # Ed. Reference # Castoner Daning # HitQ Tag kumber Feator	
Colo Despinaura (al. 0) Instribution Instributi Instribution Instrinstribution Instribution Inst	vg. Esap. Cord.	Torpputans layouControllers Hanteranon Terp, Han, Hoosis Terpputa Han, Pasket Proyon Han, Andreit Earl Up, Andreit Earl Up, Andreit Earl Up, Andreit Earl Up, Andreit	04 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	Area Classification Classi Design Design Design Design Design Alteration Costone Alteration Costone Alteration Costone Alteration Costone Tipol Seman Sequence	NA NA Quarty A27	Postfete jesge Dets insettisk Al Pop Soo Soo Pop Foo Soo Soo Soo Soo Soo Soo Soo Soo Soo	Anula Boartos [0.4.] [0.4.] [0.4.] [0.4.] [0.4.]	_ Tea Lique	> 000 n % 55	bilanatan Sepreti Nane Nokle Nokle Naka Castore Une # Castore Dewlop # HQ Tap Narber Febr	
Edita Despiñazaria (ad. 2) el vencibilizza Doveni al vencibilizza Doveni al confuguadori succional cua directaria de la confuguadori vua directaria directaria directaria zud directaria directaria directaria zud directaria directaria directaria zud directaria directaria directaria zud directaria directaria zud directaria directaria zud direct	v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v	Temperaturas lavau/Contestitend Hautenance Temp. Hau. Poscala Temperatur Hau. Poscala Temperatur Hau. Anderet Ela Ug. Anderet Ela Ug. Anderet Ela Ug. Anderet Ela Ug. Anderet		Area Classification Clima Division Pr-Class Actogration Temp. Altocation Colores Selection Colores Type Sense Segment Areb. Services		Post Sea Despr Deta Insectión Al Pos Sea Lingh Pos Sea Lingh Cost. Albanoo Deslator Deslator Cost. Albanoo Deslator Deslator Post Sea Lingh Cost. Albanoo	Анила (са. (са. (са. (са. (са. (са. (са.))) (са. (са.))) (са.	ाग्वायूल		Maxadan Sepret Nane Holde Wah Palage Anna Cattore Dark R Ed. Reference # HQ Tap Namber Retar	
Citol Complexity Ref. D. International Complexity of the Citol A Citol Complexity of the Citol Citol Complexity of the Citol Complexity of the Citol Citol Complexity of the Citol Comple	v) view view view view view view view view	Persperaturas Investidentes Silando Nandamanas Temps Nan Lipset Process Ilhas Produkt Temps Ilhas Produkt Temps Ilhas Abdent Ede Ugs Andrent Ede Ugs Andrent Dersson Egenson Utemps	4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	Area Classification Class Device Problem Problem Autophion Temps Allocation Options Allocation Options Temperature Control Trav Sensor Segment Ana. Sensor Segment Ana. Sensor Segment Ana. Sensor Segment	00- 00- 00- 00- 00- 00- 00- 00- 00- 00-	Postbos begy Deli soutisti Al Pos See See See See See See See Se	Anula Internetion	Полария	 Im I	bNexatan Sepret/Nexe Holke Wah/Holkage Ana Castoner Une # Dcl. Reference # Castoner Dreinige # Holk Tas Number Castoner Dreinige # Holk Tas Number Castoner Dreinige # Octoper Dreinige # Octoper Dreinige # Octoper Dreinige # Octoper Dreinige #	
Colo Seeghaary Rat, D. Instantiation of the second	vy Bage Coord. v Vec Vec Vec Vec Vec	Tonpostans laveiControllind Hartmann Tenp, Mac, Process Tonpost Nac, Process Nac, Process Nac, Process Nac, Andert San Ug, Anders San Ug, Anders San Ug, Anders Dessan Spasser Vand	9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9	Ava Cashidot Class Draps Proper Proba Autophon Temp Alex Spring Temperature Control Type Sensor Segment Ans. Sensor Sagment Lander Set Part		Postbo Desp Tel Instant Pos Pos Pos Entry Fastr Cost. Absarce Post Pos Cost. Absarce Post Pos Cost. Absarce Pos Pos Cost. Absarce Pos Pos Cost. Absarce Pos Pos Pos Pos Pos Pos Pos Pos	Акала Конактая 04 04 	(heiger	> 000 R S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S S	Maxadan Segreet-Name Inskie Unik-Pankage Anna Castaneer Line # Ed. Reference # Ed. Tag Number Page Page Tag Number Castaneer Consisting # Ed. Tag Number Castaneer Consisting # Ed. Tag Number Castaneer Constraints Facetore Castaneer Constraints Facetore Castaneer Constraints Page Castaneer C	La Peal
Cive Seeghaary Let 2: Instruction Control of the second s	vy Bage Coord.	Temperaturas laryasi Amitsillendo Marchanano Tempo Marchanol Tempo Marchanol Tempo Marchanol Tempo Marchanol Tempo Marchanol Tempo Marchanol Tempo Denvid Denvidon Marchanol Denvidon Marchanol Denvidon	9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 10 10 10	Area Classification Classi Distant Probasi Probasi Autogration Temp Alexitory Celture Mark Sprung Type Sense Support Adult Set Partit	00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	Post Eve Serge Terr Res Set Al Page Pag	Ажыла Болконон рад. рад. рад. рад. рад. рад. рад. рад.	- treager	> 000 n 5 5 5	Mercadas Seprent Name I Makin I I Makin I I Makin I I Castore Unit # I I Gastore Unit # I I HQ Top Number I I Castore Unit # I I Gastore Unit # I I <td< td=""><td>Ca Pied</td></td<>	Ca Pied
Color Despharps, Ref. 2 encoded bases encoded	v Vec	Temperatures layudonitestitensi Maketenano Temp. Make Process Temperatures Make Product Temp- Make Andrest Ensignmental Oremot Docence Stati Ugi Andrest Dissignmental Oremot Docence Stati Market Stole	un	Area ClassRiption Class Denson Driven Pr-Class Autophon Temp, Altorotor Option Temperature Control Tion Temperature Control Tion Server Segment Adu, Server Lander Set Parit	NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA N	Post Ente Despe Terr Insection A Page Terr Page Terr	NA	- haiger	V 009 R S V 009 V 009 V 009	Mexadan Sogweit Nane Heade Nead Pedage Ana Castoner Unit # Castoner Daving # HQ Tas hindor HQ Tas hindor Castoner Daving # Castoner Daving # Castoner Daving # Castoner Daving # Castoner Daving # Castoner Daving #	Ca Peak
Close Despitazzy: Rac D el consociación despitazzy: Rac D el consociación despitazzi el consociación despitaz el consociación despitaz el consociación despita el consoci	eg. Espe. Cont.	Temperaturas Incycul Control States Neuroscience Simpon Neuroscience Simpon Neuroscience Simpon Neuroscience Simpon Neuroscience Simpon State Universitat State Universitat State Universitat Simpon S	urs	Area ClassReston Clim Denson Grave T Class Autogradon Terro Altocation Cottors Altocation Cottors Tops Tops Served Specific Tops Served Specific Anto. Served Specific User Specific Served Specific Spe	NA	Post Exe Serge Tere marcine at Page Pag	PA	Пакадан	> m > m = 5 = 5 = 5 = 5 = 5 = 5 = 5 = 5 = 5 = 5	Johnstatus Sogners Name International Name <td>Ca Peak</td>	Ca Peak
A Choir Deprivature Red D in sector Control C	v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v v	Teppetarse layudOntestimot Machenars Tenp. Nac. Poscal Tenpetat Nac Lipset Process Nac Lipset Process Lin Lipset Tenpetat Nac, Anderet Elin Lipsetat Demot Doman Librotation Hatte Dyle Serie Paulad	VI V	Ana Caashadan Caa Dalaan Dalaan Dalaan Fickaa Akapaton Teeno Akapaton Teeno Akapaton Teeno Akapaton Teeno Akapaton Caba Teepenaka Caba Senas Sapant Ana, Sanas Sapant Ana, Sanas Sapant Ana, Sanas Sapant	NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA N	Post Data Design Post Near Data Data Post See Near Data See See See Near Data See See Near Data See Ne	No. No.	. Tarian		bdenatan Soperat Name Heade Nada Panage Ana Cottoer Davier Hitt Tap Namber Cottoer Davier of Cottoer Davier of Cottoer Davier of Cottoer Davier of Head Cottoer Davier of Head	SI Pools
Horizon Conference on Con	eg. Espe. Cont.	Perpentans layutGrebsBand Mantenana Impo. Mac. Hoosas terpenat Na Dradust Terp. Imp. Anderst Barl Up. Anderst Barl Up. Anderst Darwarental Onemal Polynetics Vand Heater Diryutan Heater Diryutan	Lee V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V V	Area Casarifactor. Com Donorn Drawn Drawn Preas Alkonster Cotters Marc Sprakey Freeparties Cotters Jaken Sprakey Freeparties Cotter Andon Strawert Andon Strawert Andon Strawert Strawert Frank	00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00	Post Data Serger Data Sera Sera Al Para Sera Sera Sera Sera Sera Sera Sera S	No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No. No.	Chatter		Information Segment Name Induktie Nach Phologie Anna Castoner Dare # HSQ Tap hindhor Castoner Darensop # HSQ Tap hindhor Castoner Darensop # Castoner Darensop # Castoner Darensop # Castoner Darensop # Castoner Darensop # Castoner Darensop # Castoner Darensop # Statuter E	da Heal

This is the main design window of the new CompuTrace Design Suite program which has incorporated the settings defined in the New Project Wizard. The user can now start creating designs.

Navigating the Main Design Window

The main design window contains three basic sections.

- Menu Bar / Tool Bar
- Circuit Manager / Segment Definition Layout
- Circuit / Segment Input Data Tabs

Menu Bar

This section serves as the main settings control for the program. Here, functions such as opening/ saving a project file, import/export, reporting, as well as help on specific topics can be found. Listed by its corresponding menu is a brief description of the functionality of each command.

File	Design	Prefe	erences	Reports	Help	
<u>°</u>	i 🚽	i 🔇	(🏟 :	i 🖻	H 17	+/- 🔣 🕐

COMPUTRACE USER'S GUIDE 6.1 - SECTION II

File Menu

File	Design Preferer	nces Reports	Help
2	New		
2	Open	C	trl+0
	Save	(Ctrl+S
	Save As	Ctrl+Sł	nift+S
2			F5
I	Search & Replace	(Ctrl+F
I	Export to File		
	Import from File		
	Import from Line L	ist	
	Exit		

New

Use this menu item to open the **New Project** Wizard.

Open

Selecting this item will introduce the **Select a Project** dialog box, allowing the user to select an existing project file to open. This command can also be executed with the keyboard shortcut Ctrl+O (hold down the Ctrl key and press the letter 'o').

Save

Select this menu item to save the changes to the open project. This command can also be executed using the keyboard shortcut Ctrl+S (hold down the Ctrl key and press the letter 's').

Save As

Selecting this menu item allows the user to save a copy of the current project under a different name. This command can also be executed using the keyboard shortcut Ctrl+Shift+S (hold down the Ctrl and Shift keys and press the letter 's').

Search & Replace

Selecting this command will open the Search and Replace window below. This feature serves as an aid to the user in searching for specific data by a specific property input value, as well as replacing that data by a specific property input value. This feature functions in a similar manner as other "Search & Replace" in other programs. For a complete explanation of this feature, see **Using the Search and Replace Feature** section in this manual.

Search and Replace Mode	Circuits and Segments
Search Only	Name
Search and Replace	
Replace Values For	
Whole Project	
Circuits	
Connections	
Segments	
CircuitReferenceDrawings	
Search and Replace	
Property To Search/Replace:	
Select property from list	•
Find	
Replace with	
Replace All Values	

Export to File

Selecting this command will export the current project to an .xml file. This can be used to transfer the file to another designer or to archive the project.

Import from File

Selecting this command will allow the user to import a project saved in an .xml format. The current project will be closed when a new project is imported.

Import from Line List

Selecting this command will open the Import Line List dialog box shown below.

Select File

4	Import Line List -
Se	elect Line List Import File
B	rowse
	Import Line List Import Status: Ready

Clicking this button will open a standard Open dialog box to navigate to the desired Line List.

Get Template

Clicking this button opens a properly formatted Excel® file to use as a template for the line list import file.

Import Line List

Clicking this button begins the import process for the selected line list. The window below the **Import Line List** button will confirm the import is complete and whether all segments were successfully imported. Any cell left blank in the Line List Template will be set to default CompuTrace values when imported. Once the import is complete, close the import window by clicking on "X".

Exit

This command will close the project file and exit CompuTrace Design Suite. If there have been any changes to the file since the last save command was issued, the program will prompt the user whether the changes should be saved before closing.

Design Menu

Des	sign	Preferences	Reports	Help	
\$	Des	ign Active Cire	Ctrl+D		
d ⁱⁿ	Des	ign Changed (Ctrl+Shift+D		

Design Active Circuit

Selecting this option will cause CompuTrace to (re) generate a design using the design conditions defined by the currently selected circuit.

Design Changed Circuits

Selecting this option will initiate CompuTrace to (re)generate designs using the design conditions defined for all modified/undesigned circuits.

Preferences Menu

Project Properties

Selecting Project Properties opens a dialog box showing some of the values for the project level variables that were set when the project was initiated. CompuTrace will allow these fields to be adjusted from this point with the exception of the Max Spiral Ratio, project units and electrical code selections.

User Preferences

Selecting User Preferences opens a dialog box that allows the user to select a file location for CompuTrace to download/save all reports created by the program.

Cuser Default Settings	×
Report Save Location	
C:\Users\Ilewis\Documents	Pick new Location
Default Report Paper Size	
	Close

Reports Menu



The Reports Menu will only be available **after** a successful design has been created. Otherwise, it is not a selectable option. These reports are a summary of the design on a project level. Each report is created in Microsoft Excel®.

The following list of reports each provide a summary of design results in various formats as their titles depict:

Heat Up Report

This report will show the input and output values, including a graph of heat up time and temperature for each segment and circuit that has an **Analysis Type** set to Heat Up.

Cool Down Report

This report will show the input and output values, including a graph of cool down time and temperature for each segment and circuit that has an Analysis Type set to Cool Down.

Circuit Segment Report

This report gives the result summary for each segment in the circuit.

Circuit Tag Report

This report gives a list of the user defined tag information provided for the Connection Kits and other components in the project.

Circuit Segment Heat Trace Line List Report This report gives a summary of both the Circuit Segment and Line List data.

Circuit Heat Trace Line List Report

This report gives a summary of the Line List data.

Bill of Materials Report

Similar to the Bill of Materials in past CompuTrace versions, this report provides a summary list of all the physical components required based on the design. In addition to an overall summary, this report can be filtered by Work Package, Module or Area.

File	Design	Preferences	Reports	Help				
	Heat Up R	eport			0			
	Cool Dow	n Report						
Circuit Segment Report								
Circuit Tag Report							uits: 1/1	
	Circuit Segment Heat Trace Line List Report						Rev	Sheet
	Circuit Heat Trace Line List Report							
	Bill Of Ma	terials Report		•		Bill	ls Report	
	Required I	Div 1 Checklist	s			By	age 🕨 🕨	
	Generate All MIQ Fab Sheets					By	Module	+
	Equipment Coordinates Report					Ву	Area	+
	Get Report Documentation					Во	M CSV Expo	ort

Required Div 1 Checklists

A document that is mandatory to be filled out and retained for designs in which a Division 1 Area Classification is selected in projects using the NEC: Ordinary/Divisions Electrical Codes. This checklist is enabled under this area classification selection only.

NOTE: The Division 1 Checklist is provided in a .pdf format and will download only once for each project; the Checklist will automatically be saved to the location defined by the user (refer to User Preferences for more information).

NOTE: Generate All MIQ Fab Sheets

This enables the user to generate all MIQ fabrication sheets for designed circuits utilizing MIQ heaters.

Equipment Coordinates Report

This report provides a summary list of all the heating system components required based on the design, which can include design reference, physical coordinates and user tag if input in the design process.

Get Report Documentation

Clicking this button opens a Microsoft Word® compatible file showing the definitions of the terms used in the various Reports.

Additional summary reports on a circuit level only can also be found using a menu in the Circuit Manager. See **Circuit Manager Reports** in this manual for more information.

Help Menu



Help with CompuTrace

Selecting this menu item will open the contextsensitive help system. From this window, the user will be able to select from the Table of Contents, Index Tabs, or Search for the term for which they need further explanation.

The Help system will also be available from the main screen by selecting the field in question and pressing the **F1** key.

About CompuTrace



Selecting this menu item will open the **About CompuTrace** dialog box, which will display the program version as well as contact information for

additional assistance if needed.



Tool Bar

File Design Preferences Reports Help [*]	Th wi De
The Tool Bar provides one-click access to some of the more common commands found in the Menu Bar, as well as new features associated with the NEW Grid View pane.	co Se on pa
New Circuit - creates a new default circuit in the system	the pro
Open - prompts the user to save the current project and open another project Save – saves the current project	Circui Curre Desig
Refresh – NEW FEATURE - pulls latest project information from the database. Useful for updating changes from other users on a collaborative, server based project.	De <u>Se</u> a c
Search and Replace – refer to Using Search and Replace in this manual	<u>He</u> co
Design Active Circuit - designs the active circuit	со
Design Changed Circuits – designs all circuits that have not been designed	<u>He</u> co
Manage External Load Circuits - adds circuit load data and BOM components to the project from circuits not designed in CompuTrace. Once added, these materials will be included in the project reports and loads can be included in the assignment of circuits to circuit breakers. Refer to Manage External Load Circuits in this manual for more information.	Cir Th co lev Se NC
Grid View – NEW FEATURE – this radio button toggles between the standard Tree View and the NEW Grid View. Refer to Grid View Layout in this manual for more information.	be nu Se Th
+/- Expand/Collapse Grid View - expands/collapses the Grid View to full screen and back	re th
Grid View Configuration – selects the "Displayed Columns" to be shown in the Grid View	seg the co

Help – activates the Help Menu

Circuit Manager/Segment Definition Layout

e second basic section of the main design ndow is one of the key features in the CompuTrace esign Suite, presenting the user with the ability design multi-segment circuits. The layout is mprised of two panes: Circuit Manager and gment Definition. Each section is associated to e another so that if changes are made to one ne, such as addition or deletion of segments, then e other pane will also be affected. When a new oject is opened, the Circuit Manager and Segment efinition panes will be blank.

ircuit Manager									efin	itior	۱				
Current Default Circuit: System Default Ci	ent Default Circuit: System Default Circuit Number of Circuits: 0														
Design Reference	Drawing	Rev	Sheet	Sheets	- 1										
Template Circuits															
Froject Circuits															

efinitions of General Design Terms:

gment: A pipe and associated components with defined beginning and end.

eater Set: A length of heater with a power nnection and end termination. A heater set is mposed of one or more heater segments.

eater Circuit: A heater or group of heaters nnected to a single circuit breaker. A heater cuit is composed of one or more heater sets.

rcuit Manager Pane

e Circuit Manager pane is a tree diagram-style ntrol containing two levels: Circuit and Segment els. Each Circuit consists of one or more gments as defined by the user.

DTE: The default names for each Circuit and Segment, well as their respective Revision & Sheet numbers, can renamed with a single mouse left-click on the name/ mber itself.

gment Definition Pane

e Segment Definition pane is the visual presentation of the Circuit Manager. Here, e user is able to create circuits by connecting gments with nodes. The relationship between e segments is defined by the type of node that nnects them. All changes made to the circuit in the Segment Definition Pane are reflected in the Circuit Manager.

Working with the Circuit Manager Pane

Clicking the "New Circuit" icon on the Tool Bar will insert a system default Project Circuit in both the Circuit Manager pane and the Segment pane.

File	Design	Preferences	Reports	Help
2	i 🖬 🖻) 🔍 🖓 🛊	n 🔁 🦉	= +/- 🔣 📀

Since the Circuit Manager and Segment Definition panes are linked, any changes made in one pane will be reflected in the other. However, there are some functions that are only possible in the Circuit Manager pane. Two of those are setting the default Project Circuit and setting Template Circuits.

Circuit Manager Current Default Circuit: System Default Circuit		Number of C	Number of Circuits: 1/1						Segment Definition									
Design Reference	Drawi	ng	Rev	Sheet	She		Ľ	Ρ	ŀ	Seg	men	41.	E	-				
Template Circuits Project Circuits																		
Segment 1			A		1													

Default Project Circuit

This can be customized by modifying any circuit as needed, then right-clicking on the selected circuit and choose "Make Default Circuit". Once a new default circuit is created, this will be the circuit added each time the "New Circuit" icon is clicked.



This process can be repeated and the newest saved default Project Circuit will overwrite the previously saved version.

It is also important to note that changing the default circuit configuration only affects the current project, and will not be used in other projects. Thus, the process must be repeated for each new project. The system default circuit configuration will always be used when a new project is opened.

Template Circuits

New to CompuTrace 6.1 is the ability to create Template Circuits that can be used instead of the default Project Circuit. This will save time if the project has more than one basic circuit type, since multiple Template Circuits can be created and saved.

Circuit Manager	rcuit Manager									Segment Definition									
Current Default Circuit: System Default	Circuit Numbe	ar of Circuits: 4/	4		Ŀг	-		_	Segment 2		i i								
Design Reference	trawing	Rev	Sheet	Sheets	l L	Р		<u> </u>	Jeginentz.	E									
Template Circuits							0			1.1.1	1.1								
in 10003								1.1.1											
- Segment 1		A		1			5	1.1											
- Segment 3		A		1			······································	<u>.</u>											
- I 0004							1111111111	F											
Comment d							L	_											
		A																	
Segment 2		A		1															
Segment 3		A		1															
Froness Circuito	₽																		
- 0001																			
0001																			
- Segment 1		A		1															
h 🛄 0002																			
Segment 1		A		1															
- Segment 2		A		1															
Segment 3	1	A		1															

Template Circuits can be created by modifying the initial default circuit as needed, then by rightclicking on the desired circuit and selecting "Make Template Circuit".



All Template Circuits will be available and accessible by right-clicking on the desired Template Circuit and selecting "Copy Circuit", which will add the copied circuit to the bottom of the Project Circuits list.

Circuit Manag Current Defa	ger ult Circuit: System Default Ci	ircuit Number of
Design Refe	rence	Drawing
E Temp	ate Circuits	
E	Design Circuit	
	Make Default Circuit	
L	Copy Circuit	
🖻 Pr	Delete Circuit	
₽. 	Generate Heat Up Rep	ort

NOTE: Template Circuits are not part of the system design and will not be reflected in any reports.

Circuit Manager Reports

In addition to the actions outlined above regarding default Project Circuits and Template Circuits, summary reports similar to those available in the Reports Menu but on a **circuit level only** can be found using the menu in the Circuit Manager pane.

For example, if there were more than one circuit being designed, by right-clicking on the desired circuit, the menu options available would be for that circuit exclusively.

On the Circuit Manager, right-click on the circuit name to access the following pop up menu:



NOTE: Only actions available for the selected design will be enabled. If MIQ tracers are selected, two additional reports are also available through this menu along with the ability to define MIQ fabrication sheets on a circuit level as described below.

Single Segment Report and BoM

This report provides a summary of a **single segment** design only. The report shows input and output values along with the Bill of Materials for the circuit.

gi 🚄 🗅 🗛 😓 🍤	- @ - 🛷 🧌	a .		Testing 6.	IRC_SimpleSingle	SegmentCiro	atReport - Excel					? 10 - 17 X
FILE HOME INSE	T PAGE LAYOUT	FORMULAS DATA	REVIEW VIEW ADD	INS POEIDA	noe Vili							Gold Pam +
de Vier										m m m	***	
a Cut	MS Sans Serif + 8	- X X 🔤 = 🚽	🌮 - 📄 Wrap Text	General		1 💷	LineTableRe Li	neTableRep	LineTableRep *	🗧 🦄 🗊	2 AutoSum -	97 H
Darte Copy *				A 44 1	et a Conditi	neal Format	ar LineTableDon Li	osTobieRoo	Moomal	Inset Delete Compt	(•) Fill -	orth Earth
 Format Painter 	8 X 8 . 1	. ∼ . ∎∘ ei	ez: ez El Meige & Center		Formatz	ing * Table	. Cherdolering C	nertuolertuop.		* * *	. Clear ™	iter * Select *
Cloboard %	Fort	5	Alignment	% Number			Shies			Orb	Eder	a ^
V31	$\sim fr$											~
2 A 181	C 0	- E - E	6		J	K L	H	N	0 P	Q 8	S T	U Y
1			Compu	frace managers to the tar- demany 27, 2018								
3												
8	Project.			Identification			9	erating Temperature	H			
6 Phont Name Tasta 7 Location N3	95.FC		Design/Perlorance LoorPhile		0001 N0		Mantenance Temperature Min Controlled Temperature					
8 Designer NA			Parel Disslar Number		NA.		Mec Coninellad Temperatura	144	÷			
9 Photothianber Indin 8 AbNamber NG	pili ke		Isometric Harriber Mitchie		N2A		Heater Sheath Temperature Heater Sheath Temperature H	22	¥			
1			Wat Package		N04		Uncontrolled Pipe Temperature	141	÷			
0	Pre3 Insulation		Long	Engrand	NM.	_	Max Cable Temperature	Celle 140	7			
M Design Hear Loss	υ	with the second se	Min Ambiert Temperature	Chevriat	0	1	Cablehiure	66×1	HOJ			
5 E Davi wat	***		Shahup Anto Temperature Mar Amband Temperature		0 704		Design Cable Output	22	- Comp			
V Poelia	2	in .	Max Process Temperature		35	÷.	Crouil Length	100	i i			
B Pipe Tupe B Incidetan Sina	25	in.	Mai Phoduct Temperature Area Dismification		1000 Ordenes	7	Table Cable Netriced Develop Current	20.4	2			
29 Inner Insulation Thickness	1	in	T-Own		101		Fotal Maximum Current	6.4	Ä			
21 Investmentation Type 23 Investmentation V Vid. a	14	STOLEN ALT	Autogration Temperature Temperature		NM Electronics	*	Vultage 14 octoor Medice Date	520	Vac			
23 Inner Incul Hean Temp	20	9	Temperature Control Set Point		NAA	4	Trace Patie Per Set	144				
26 Outer insulation Thickness 25 Outer insulation Turce	144	in	Wind Speed Safate Datas		25	nich 1	Spiral Pitch Casuel Danker Sine	N44	in			
25 Outer Insulation II. Value	144.	BTU-inter-IN-Y										
27 Outer Insul Hean Temp 28 Jacket Enconisity	872	,										
29 No. Valves 0	No. Supports		No Flanger	6	No Pumper 0							
10 Valve Mocation 0 /h	Support Alto	ution 8 #	Flange Allocation		Prop.Allocation 0	n						
22												
20												
Him Nunber PatNunber	Catelog Num	(m	Description				Querty Units					
262	B2K3HOJ		Self-Regulating Heater with braid as	to exercise and the second			804					
36 2 40022	FT-3.		Fixing Tape, Polyester XXI not K214	÷de			2.0	56				
32 3 27290	CL.		Californ Label (English), 25 per pilg				10	EA				
30 4 2103	E40-344		Themostal Pipeval Serving range	- 29 F to 229 F			10	EA.				
29 5 25430	0P		Terminator Power Connection Kit - I	Tpe Moure			10	EA.				
4016 254m	PETK-ID		Crout Education 7.4			_	10	EA.				
42												
44												
45 Ai												
Sheet2	()											
110/11												A 225
	_											

Calculate Power Point

Usually selected for longer piping segments, the program will automatically calculate the number of circuits required based on the user inputs. After the program has finished the calculations, the user will be presented with a dialog box that indicates the number of circuits required and asks if one would like to keep the circuits.



If yes is clicked, then the resulting circuits will be added to the Circuit Manager beneath the original circuit using the original circuit name referenced with **-1**, **-2**, etc. appended to the end. The accepted multiple power point designs will be reflected in reports while the original circuit will remain in the Circuit Manager pane without a design.



If more than 9 additional designs are required, a dialog box will be presented stating the calculations finished without finding a valid result. Suggesting input values be changed to get a workable design.

No Valid	Power Point Found	×
1	Power point calculations finished without finding a valid power point. Try manually shortening your circuit or adjusting values to get closer to a working design.	
	ОК	

MIQ Fab Sheets

After running a design using MIQ heaters, the user has the option to use the default Fabrication Sheets or override the defaults with user-specified heater



Generate MIQ Fab Sheets

Creates a Fabrication Sheet for use exclusively with MIQ heaters. The report is created in Microsoft Excel®.

Override MIQ Fab Sheet

The program will present the form shown which will allow the user to define the heater segments.

\$	Override MIQ Fal	o Sheet					
	Туре	Length	CL Length	QC Length	QC Type	CL Gauge	Tag Number
Þ	D	100	4.0 ft		0	12 👻	
*							
144	Record 1	of 1 🕨 🍽 🕇					+
	Save Ex	pected total lengt	h 100				Reset
-							

NOTE: MIQ Fabrication Sheets are required for every design utilizing MIQ Heaters

Working with the Segment Definition Pane

Click on the **New Circuit** button and the following layout will appear.



The Segment Definition pane is comprised of two main shapes: a line and box called segment and node, respectively. This default initial circuit configuration consists of a power connection, single segment, and an end termination:



The following is a list of all nodes available for creating heat tracing designs:

Power Nodes



Power Source



Power Splice



Power T-Splice

End Termination Node



End Termination

Splices, Loops, and Continuations



Splice



T-Splice (Available only for Parallel Cables)



С

Loop



Continuation

General Rules About Working with the Segment Definition Pane

Being able to select a specific node or segment is a key aspect when creating a circuit. As previously noted, both the Circuit Manager & the Segment Definition panes work in conjunction with one another, thus changes made in one area will affect the other.

A segment that is currently selected will be depicted by a dashed line as opposed to a solid line. For Example, Circuit 1> Segment 1 is selected on the Circuit Manager:

Circuit Manager	foult Circuit				Se	gmen	t D	efiniti	ion									
Design Reference	Drawing	Rev	Circuits: 1/ Sheet	1 Sheets		K	1	Segr	nent	1	-	Se	<u>dm</u>	ent	2	Γ	E	1
Template Circuits							1											ł
Project Circuits																		
Segment 1		Α		1														
Segment 2		Α		1														

Adding/Converting Single Nodes

Nodes and segments can be added to a circuit by converting an existing node to another type, or by adding a node to an existing end termination. A conversion operation replaces the selected node with a new node of the desired type. Depending on the conversion, one or more segments and end terminations are added to the new node. When a segment is added as a result of a node addition/ conversion operation, the segment properties are copied from the segment connected to the original node.

Node addition/conversion can be performed with a **right-click**, on the node and selecting an action. See below for diagrams of each available type of node addition/conversion.

Elements in **Black** dashed lines represent the original node selected to be modified.

Blue elements represent converted elements as a result of the conversion.

Green elements are newly added elements as a result of the conversion.

Red elements represent removed elements as a result of the conversion.



Convert <u>Power</u> Source to <u>Power Splice</u> node:



Convert Power Source to Power T-Splice node:



Convert <u>Power Splice</u> to <u>Power T-Splice</u> node:





Add a <u>Splice</u> to an <u>End</u> node:

Paste Selection



Add a <u>T-Splice</u> to an <u>End</u> node:



Add a <u>Continuation</u> to an <u>End</u> node:





Convert <u>Splice</u> to <u>T-Splice</u> node:



Convert <u>Splice</u> to <u>Continuation</u> node:



Convert <u>Splice</u> to <u>Loop</u> node:



Convert Loop to Continuation node:



ĉ	
Γ	Convert to Continuation and Delete Loop Segment
	Convert to Splice and Delete Loop Segment
	Delete Loop, Loop Segment and Segment 'Segment 1'
	Delete Loop, Loop Segment and Segment 'Segment 2'

Convert Loop to Splice node:



Convert <u>Continuation</u> to <u>T-Splice</u> node:



Convert <u>Continuation</u> to <u>Loop</u> node:



Inserting Single Nodes Into an Existing Segment The segment definition pane allows the insertion of Splices, T-Splices, Loops, and Continuations into an existing segment. A node insertion operation also adds one or more new segments to the circuit. The new segment properties (including length) are copied from the original segment. The original segment remains unchanged.

Insertion is performed by **right-clicking** on the segment itself and selecting the appropriate option from the context-sensitive menu. Right-clicking on the segment line will result in the following menu:



"Move Segment After" and "Move Segment Before" will provide the user with choices depending on the segments and configuration of the circuit.

I T I	Segment2		
111			
_ <u>_</u>			
2			
. 5			
1 E		******	
Sec	Insert Splice		
	Jacob T. Calling		
	Insert 1-splice		
14	Incash Constinuation		
	Insert Continuation		
	Invest Loop		
	Insert Loop		
	Move Segment After	As T-Splice	
	Move Segment After Move Segment Before	As T-Splice As Splice	
	Move Segment After Move Segment Before Convert to Loop	As T-Splice As Splice Connection 1 - Segment 2	
	Move Segment After Move Segment Before Convert to Loop	As T-Splice As Splice Connection 1 - Segment 2	
	Move Segment After Move Segment Before Convert to Loop Conv Properties From	As T-Splice As Splice Connection 1 - Segment 2 As End	
	Move Segment After Move Segment Before Convert to Loop Copy Properties From	As T-Splice As Splice Connection 1 - Segment 2 As End	
	Move Segment After Move Segment Before Convert to Loop Copy Properties From Move to Power	As T-Splice As Splice Connection 1 - Segment 2 As End Connection 1 - Segment 2	
	Move Segment After Move Segment Before Convert to Loop Copy Properties From Move to Power	As T-Splice As Splice Connection 1 - Segment 2 As End Connection 1 - Segment 2 As Loop	

"Convert to Loop" will change the selected segment to a loop.

"Copy Properties From..." will allow the user to choose another segment from any circuit and replace the design properties of the "To" segment with those of the "From" segment.

nuits: 4/4	Segment Definition			
	P Segment 1	Segment 2	T Segment 4	E
Rev		, La constante da la constant		_
A		0		
Copy Segme	ent Properties 📃 😑		e te	
From Segmen	t		e	
Circuit 00)04	•		
Commention C	opportion 1	5 18		
Connection Co	Jinection 1	-	E	
Segment		• L		
To Segment				
Circuit 00	004			
Connection Co	appartian 1			
Connection Co	sinection 1			
Segment Se	agment 5			
(ОК	Cancel		
	Pipe			

"Move to Power" will allow the user to copy any Segment and connect it to the power connection node.

NOTE: Either the original Segment must be deleted by the user or one of the Segments must be renumbered after "Move to Power" is chosen.

The following diagrams illustrate the node operations supported by the application:

Insert Splice:







Insert Continuation:



Insert Loop:



In the below example, Segment 5 was moved to power. Either the original Segment 5 (connected to a T splice) must be deleted by the user or one of the Segments must be renumbered in order to be able to design the circuit.



Multiple Node and Segment Operations

Selecting Multiple Nodes and Segments

The segment definition pane allows moving, copying, deleting, and pasting sets of segments from one circuit to another. In order to perform any of these operations, the selected segments and nodes must meet the following conditions:

- 1. All segments and nodes must be connected to each other.
- 2. The selection must include one and only one additional open segment.
- 3. All selected circuit branches must be terminated by end nodes.
- 4. Power nodes cannot be included in the selection.

To select the Segments and Nodes for any operation, the user simply highlights the Segment(s) and Node(s) holding the left mouse button. In the below example, Segment 3 and the End Node have been selected for modification.



The following illustrations show valid and invalid selections:

Valid Selection



Invalid Selection No open segment included in the selection



Invalid Selection Some nodes are not connected



Invalid Selection Not all branches are terminated



Once a valid selection is selected, **right-click** on the selected node or segment and the following menu will appear:

⊆ору
Delete
Move to New Circuit

The next three sections will describe each feature in detail.

Deleting and Moving Multiple Nodes and Segments The user can select a set of nodes and segments and delete them from a circuit or move them to a new circuit. The selected set of nodes and segments must meet the criteria described in the **Selecting Multiple Nodes** and **Segments** section. Deleting or moving a set of segments will also cause certain nodes to be converted to a different type.

For **illustration** purposes, a valid set of nodes and segments will be represented by the following symbol:



The following diagrams illustrate the deletion and move operations supported by the application.

NOTE: Deleting or moving segments connected to a regular power node (not a Power Splice or Power T-Splice) is **NOT** supported.

Elements enclosed in **black** dash lines represent node selected to be modified.

Elements in **red** represent segment and end terminations deleted from the circuit.

Elements in **blue** represent converted nodes.

Delete or move a set of segments connected to a Splice:



Delete or move a set of segments connected to a Continuation:



Delete or move a set of segments connected to a Loop:



(Note that the loop segment is also deleted)

19

Delete or move a set of segments connected to a T-Splice:



Delete or move a set of segments connected to a Power Splice:



Delete or move a set of segments connected to a Power T-Splice:



Copying/Pasting Multiple Nodes and Segments Any set of segments and nodes that meet the criteria described in the Selecting Multiple Nodes and Segments section can be copied to the application clipboard. The selection can then be pasted into a new circuit or an existing circuit. Pasting into existing circuits is only allowed at end terminations. The user must select the end node where the segments will be pasted. The end termination is converted to a continuation and the pasted segments are connected to the rest of the circuit as shown below:



When pasting into a new circuit, a power node is added automatically and the pasted segments are connected to it as shown below:



This command is used to automatically position current nodes and segments within the Segment Definition Pane in an organized and efficient manner.

To access the command, right click anywhere on the segment definition pane where the mouse pointer is not in contact with either a node or segment (any empty area) and the **Auto Arrange** command will appear. Click on it, and the segment will be automatically arranged.

Before Auto Arrange:



After Auto Arrange:



Circuit and Segment Data Fields

The third basic section of the main design window consists of the data input section. Here, users can define their design on both the Circuit and Segment levels. The tabs on the left contain input fields for variables on the **Circuit** level while the tabs on the right contain input fields for variables that can be changed at the **Segment** level.

The data input section is comprised of different types of input controls. The following is a listing of all the types used in CompuTrace Design Suite:

Definition of Input Control Terms:

<u>Text Box</u>: A control used to accept typed entry from the user. The maintenance temperature field is an example of a Text Box.



<u>Drop Down List:</u> A control that presents the user with a list of options when clicked. The insulation type control is an example of a Drop Down List.

List Box: A control that presents a list of options for the user to select. It may include scroll bars if the options do not fit in the available space. The Product List is an example of a List Box.

<u>Check Box</u>: A control that allows the user to either select or unselect a single option by clicking it. When the option is selected, a check appears in the box. The Multiple Segments input is an example of a Check Box.

<u>Radio Button:</u> A control that allows the user to select from several, mutually exclusive options. The options are grouped together where only one can be selected at a time. The options presented in the Analysis Type group are an example of Radio Buttons.

Circuit Data Fields

Input Data - Data Tab

Analysis Type Group

Analysis Type			Temperatures		Area Classification		
Temperature Mainte	nance	~	Maintenance Temp.	40 95	Class	Ordinary	
-			Max. Process Temperature	35 %	Division	N/A	
Decirical Circuit Configuration	Single Phase (P.M)		Max Upset Process	35 %	Group	N/A	
/oltage	120	Vac	Max Product Temp.		T-Class	N/A	
leater Voltage	120	Vac	Min, Ambient	0 %	Autoignition Temp.		ŀ
Dircuit Breaker Size	20	A	Max. Ambient	104 95	Allocation Options		
Dirouit Breaker Type	QOB	~	Start I in Ambient	0	Allow Spiraling		
Individual Breaker Per Heater Set Reference Design Reference O001 Customer Circuit # Design Reference =			Environmental Chemical Exposure None Wind 25	~ mph	Type Sensor Segment Amb. Sensing Setpoir Limiter Set Point	Pipe Sensing Segment 1 It	
Connection Setting			Heater Style	Heater Family Selection	1	Installation Method	
User Specified Ti	race Ratio		◯ Series	CompuTrace Select	ts Heater Family	Fixing Tape/Banding	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Number of Heater S Trace Ratio per Hea Pipe Trace Ratio	iets		Parallel	User Selects Heate	r Family	Channel Above Centerline O Channel Below Centerline	

This dropdown list is used to define the type of analysis CompuTrace is to perform.

Temperature Maintenance: When selected, CompuTrace will use the input data provided by the designer to determine the heat loss from the pipe(s) at the specified maintenance temperature. A suitable heater will then be selected to offset this heat loss. If different pipe sizes and/or insulation values are specified for multiple segments, then the temperature for each segment will be calculated. If the selected or user specified heater does not meet the requirements for all pipe segments, then a warning will be generated. <u>Heat Up</u>: This analysis begins with a temperature maintenance analysis, then determines the time required to heat the pipe(s) from the user specified initial temperature to the specified final temperature.

<u>Cool Down</u>: This analysis determines the time required for the pipe(s) to cool from the userspecified initial temperature to the specified final temperature. This calculation is performed without consideration of any trace heating.

NOTE: Heat up and Cool Down analysis are performed under non-flowing conditions.

Electrical Group

Heat Up/Cool D	own							
Analysis Type			Temperatures		Area Classification			
Temperature Mainter	nance	\sim	Maintenance Temp.	40 °F	Class	Ordinary		
Electrical			Max. Process Temperature	35 ºF	Division	N/A		
Circuit Configuration	Single Phase (P-N)	1	Max Upset Process	35 %	Group	N/A		
Voltage	120	Vac	Max Product Temp.	1000 %	T-Class	N/A		
Heater Voltage	120	Vac	Min. Ambient	0 %	Autoignition Temp.			
Dircuit Breaker Size	20	A	Max Ambient		Allocation Options			
Circuit Breaker Type	QOB v		Chartella Ambient	104 7	Allow Spiraling			
Reference Design Reference Customer Circuit # Ext. Reference #	3001		Environmental Chemical Exposure None Wind 25	mph	Sensor Segment Amb. Sensing Setpoi Limiter Set Point	Segmer	it 1	
			Heater Information	Hanter Family Colorison			Installation Mathed	
User Specified Tr Number of Heater S Trace Ratio per Hea Pipe Trace Ratio	s race Ratio iets iter Set		⊖ Series	CompuTrace Selects User Selects Heater N/A Use Same Heater for	s Heater Family r Family		Fixing Tape/Banding Channel Above Centerline Channel Below Centerline	~

<u>Circuit Configuration</u>: Drop down list used to specify the electrical configuration of the heater. This information is used to determine the voltage across the heater circuit and how the amperage is calculated.

Single Phase (P-N): Indicates that the value selected or entered in the Voltage field is a phase-to-neutral voltage.

<u>Phase to Phase:</u> This selection indicates that the value selected or entered in the Voltage field is a phase-to-phase voltage.

<u>Three Phase Wye:</u> This selection is applicable for single conductor series resistance heaters and three conductor series resistance heaters.

<u>Voltage:</u> Text box for entering the supply voltage for the circuit.

Heater Voltage: Displays the potential across the heater circuit based on the specified applied voltage and circuit configuration. For example, if the user enters 480 volts and 3-phase wye connection, then this field would display 277. If the entry in the voltage field is 240 volts and the circuit configuration is Single Phase or Phase to Phase, then this field would display 240. <u>Circuit Breaker Size:</u> Text box for specifying the size of the circuit breaker that will be used to supply the heating circuit. This entry is used to determine whether a single breaker can supply the specified circuit. If the user has selected ATEX or IECEx Zones under the Electrical Codes and Standards menu, then the program will default to a 16 amp breaker. Otherwise, the default value is 20 amps.

<u>Circuit Breaker Type:</u> Drop down list used to specify the breaker type.

B type breakers have a trip curve based on 3 to 5 times the nominal amperage.

C type breakers have a trip curve based on 5 to 10 times the nominal amperage.

NV type breakers have a trip curve based on 7 to 10 times the nominal amperage.

QOB type breakers have a trip curve based on 10 to 20 times the nominal amperage.

<u>All heater sets to single breaker:</u> When selected, the loading of the breaker is determined based on the amperage associated with all heater sets in the circuit. This is the default setting for all circuits and mandatory for Power Tees, and Power Splices.

Individual breaker per heater set: When selected, the loading of the breaker is determined based on the amperage associated with each individual heater set. This selection will yield longer maximum lengths when multiple passes or sets are involved. This option will ONLY be available when the user is specifying the number of passes. By default, all heaters in a heat tracing circuit will go to the same circuit breaker. If the circuit requires the heaters to be fed from individual breakers then an asterisk will be appended to the end of the circuit name in the Circuit Manager tree.

NOTE: Refer to **Trace Ratio per Heater Set** in this manual for more information on multiple passes.

Reference Group

put Data Design Res	ults Ref. Dwg. Equip. C	oord.								
Data Heat Up/Cool D	own									
Analysis Type				Temperatures			Area Classification			
Temperature Mainter	nance		\sim	Maintenance Temp.	40	٩F	Class	Ordinary		~
Electrical	lectrical			Max. Process Temperature	e 35 %		Division	N/A		
Circuit Configuration	Single Phase (P-M)			Max Upset Process	35	_ ¶¶=	Group	N/A		
Voltage	120		/ac	Max Product Temp.	1000	op .	T-Class	N/A		~
Heater Voltage	120		/ac	Min. Ambient	0] of	Autoignition Temp.			9
Circuit Breaker Size	20	,	λ.	Max, Ambient	104] op	Allocation Options			
Circuit Breaker Type	Q08	~		Start I In Amhient	0] <u>-</u>	Allow Spiraling			
All Heater Sets Te	o Single Breaker						Temperature Contro	ol		
O Individual Breake	r Per Heater Set						Туре	Pipe Ser	nsing	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Reference			_	Chamical European and Au		_	Sensor Segment	Segmen	t 1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Design Reference	1001			chenical coposite None		~	Amb. Sensing Setpo	int		٩
Customer Circuit #				Wind 25		mph	Limiter Set Point			9
Ext. Reference #				Heater Information						
Connection Setting			-	Heater Style	Heater Family Se	election	1		Installation Method	
Uper Specified To	race Patio			Gerier	Corror Trace	Color	tr Master Eamly		Ewing Tage/Banding	

<u>Design Reference:</u> Enter the design name or number. This is the reference that will appear in the Circuit Manager and on reports. All project circuits must have a unique Design Reference.

<u>Customer Circuit #:</u> This is an optional informational field tied to a circuit. The intended use is so that the user can map a circuit in CompuTrace with a circuit on their line list.

Ext. Reference #: This is an optional informational field for the user to designate as a reference value.

Connection Settings Group

Design Kes	suits Rer, Dwg, Equip, C	ooro.								
Data Heat Up/Cool D	own									
Analysis Type			Temperatures				Area Classification			
Temperature Mainte	nance	~	Maintenance Temp.		40	98	Class	Ordinary	1	~
Electrical			Max. Process Temp	erature	35	٩F	Division	N/A	A	
Circuit Configuration	Single Phase (P-N)	~	Max Upset Process		35	95	Group	N/A		
Voltage	120	Vac	Max Product Temp.		1000	ee	T-Class	N/A		~
Heater Voltage	120	Vac	Min. Ambient		0		Autoignition Temp.			4
Circuit Breaker Size	20	A	Max, Ambient		104	-	Allocation Options			
Circuit Breaker Type	QOB	~	Start I in Ambient			-	Allow Spiraling			
All Heater Sets Tr O Individual Breake	o Single Breaker Ir Per Heater Set		Start op Franklin		0	-	Temperature Contro	Dina	Canaina	
Reference			Environmental				Sensor Segment	Segr	ent 1	
Design Reference	0001		Chemical Exposure	Chemical Exposure None	me v		Amb. Sensing Setpoi	nt		9
Customer Circuit #			Wind	25		mph	Limiter Set Point			9
Ext. Reference #										
		_	Heater Information		Master Eamly	Calaction			Installation Method	
Connection Settings	a Carlo Dalla		Ofering		Committee	Colors	r Master Freely		Eving Tage Banding	
Number of Heater S	lats		Parallel		OUser Sele	cts Heater	r Family		Conservation and	
Trace Ratio per Hea	ster Set	_			he/A				Channel Below Centerline	
Pipe Trace Ratio					Colling Come	Manhar fr	All Comments			
					muse same	measer to	All beyments			

It is important to note that Series heaters default to Series passes and Parallel heaters default to Parallel passes.

<u>User Specified Trace Ratio</u>: If checked, CompuTrace will attempt to design the segment using the specified number of passes rather than calculating the number of passes required.

<u>Number of Heater Sets</u>: Text box that will be enabled if the user selects User Specified Trace Ratio allowing the user to define the exact number of heater sets to be used. Trace Ratio per Heater Set: Text box that will be enabled if the user selects User Specified Trace Ratio. It is used to specify the number of passes per heater set. If multiple passes per set is specified, then the passes are calculated to be in series with each other regardless of the selected Circuit Configuration in the Electrical Group on the Input Data tab. The Trace Ratio per Heater Set can be greater than 1 for parallel resistance heaters if the connection is made up of one segment. It cannot be greater than 1 if the connection has more than one segment.

For example, the following diagram shows one heater set with a trace ratio per heater set of two (two passes in series):

The following would be two heater sets with a trace ratio per heater set of one (two passes in parallel):

<u>Pipe Trace Ratio</u>: This field will display the trace ratio per unit length of process pipe based on the entries in the Number of Heater Sets and Trace Ratio per Heater Set fields. In both of the previous diagrams, the pipe trace ratio is two.

Temperatures Group

Heat Up/Cool D	own						
Analysis Type			Temperatures		Area Classification		
Temperature Mainter	nance	~	Maintenance Temp.	40 ºF	Class	Ordinary	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Flectrical			Max. Process Temperati	re 35 %	Division	N/A	
Dirouit Configuration	Single Phase (P-N)	~	Max Upset Process	35 9=	Group	N/A	
/oltage	120	Vac	Max Product Temp.	1000 %	T-Class	N/A	
Heater Voltage	120	Vac	Min. Ambient	0 97	Autoignition Temp.		1
Circuit Breaker Size	20	A	Max. Ambient	104 95	Allocation Options		
Circuit Breaker Type	QOB .	~	Start Lip Ambient	0.00	Allow Spiraling		
Cundividual preake Reference Design Reference C Customer Circuit # C Ext. Reference # C	1001		Environmental Chemical Exposure Non Wind 25 Heater Information	e v	Type Sensor Segment Amb. Sensing Setpoi Limiter Set Point	Pipe Sensing Segment 1	
Connection Settings			Heater Style	Heater Family Selection	1	Installation Method	
User Specified Tr	ace Ratio		Series Parallel	CompuTrace Select	ts Heater Family r Family	Fixing Tape/Banding	~
Number of Heater S Trace Ratio per Hea Pipe Trace Ratio	ets		0.000	N/A	v All Segments	Channel Above Centerlin Channel Below Centerline	e 2

<u>Maintenance Temp.</u>: Text box for specifying the temperature that the heating system is to maintain the process pipe. This value is used to determine the heat loss from the pipe.

<u>Max. Process Temperature:</u> This is the maximum temperature the pipe will be exposed to during normal operation. No entry is required if the maximum Process Temperature is less than the maintenance temperature or the maximum ambient temperature.

With ambient sensing, ambient proportional or no control, the cable is assumed to be energized while exposed to the Maximum Process Temperature.

With pipe sensing control or control limited designs, the cable is assumed to be de-energized when the pipe is at the Maximum Process Temperature.

Exposures which occur for less than a cumulative 1000 hours over the life of the installation are defined as intermittent and should be entered in the Max Upset Process field.

Max Upset Process: This is the maximum temperature the pipe will experience due to process upset conditions or steam out. No entry is required if the maximum upset temperature is less than the maintenance temperature or the maximum ambient temperature. It is assumed the exposure to this temperature is intermittent if the total cumulative exposure is less than 1000 hours. For example, HTSX may be exposed to temperatures greater than 204 °C but less than 250 °C when energized as long as the exposure is less than 1000 hours over the life of the installation. This temperature is used to select a suitable heater for the application. It also impacts maximum heater temperature calculations.

With ambient sensing, ambient proportional or no control, the cable is assumed to be energized while exposed to the temperature entered in this field.

With pipe sensing control or control limited designs, the cable is assumed to be de-energized when the pipe is at this temperature.

Max Product Temp.: This is the maximum allowable temperature the fluid in the pipe may be exposed to without degradation. This temperature is used to evaluate heating system designs to ensure that the applied system will not overheat the process fluid. The program will reject designs with no control or ambient sensing control selected if the Minimum Controlled Temperature exceeds the maximum product temperature. NOTE: Finite Element Analysis (FEA) is required to predict temperature distribution around and through the pipe and product.

<u>Min. Ambient:</u> Text box for specifying the minimum ambient temperature. This temperature is used to determine the heat loss from the process pipe and should represent the expected minimum temperature, not the historical low.

<u>Max. Ambient:</u> Text box for specifying the maximum ambient temperature. This value is used to determine the maximum heater temperature for designs in nonhazardous (ordinary) locations. This entry is also used to determine the stabilized operating pipe temperature for systems designed without pipe sensing control.

<u>Start Up Ambient:</u> Text box for specifying the temperature to be used when determining the maximum amperage associated with the startup of the heating system.

Environmental Group

pesignities	and men ang. Equip. co								
Data Heat Up/Cool D	own								
Analysis Type			Temperatures			Area Classification			
Temperature Mainter	nance	~	Maintenance Temp.	40	٩F	Class	Ordinary		~
Electrical			Max. Process Temperature	35	٩F	Division	N/A		
Circuit Configuration	Single Phase (P-N)	~	Max Upset Process	35	٩F	Group	N/A		
Voltage	120	Vac	Max Product Temp.	1000	٩F	T-Class	N/A		
Heater Voltage	120	Vac	Min. Ambient	0	of	Autoignition Temp.			9
Circuit Breaker Size	20	A	Max, Ambient	104		Allocation Options			
Circuit Breaker Type	QOB	~	Start Lin Ambient	0	-	Allow Spiraling			
Individual Breake Reference Design Reference Customer Circuit # Ext. Reference #	r Per Heater Set		Environmental Chemical Exposure None Wind 25		∼ mph	Fype Sensor Segment Amb. Sensing Setpoi Jmiter Set Point	Pipe Ser Segmen	ming t1	
Connection Setting			Heater Style	Heater Family	Selection			Installation Method	
User Specified Tr Number of Heater S Trace Ratio per Hea Pipe Trace Ratio	ace Ratio		⊖ Series ● Parallel	CompuTra User Sele N/A Use Same	ace Select cts Heate Heater fo	r Family		Fixing Tape/Banding Channel Above Centerline Channel Below Centerline	

<u>Chemical Exposure:</u> A drop down list containing chemical exposure options (None, InOrganics, Organics). The selection will affect the selection of jacket material for some heaters.

<u>Wind:</u> Text box for accepting the user specified wind speed. This value will be used in determining the design heat loss for the pipe segments.

Area Classification Group

nalysis Type					_				
and a state of the		T	emperatures			Area Classification			
entropy during manuary an	nce .	V M	laintenance Temp.	40	-	Class	Ordinary		
		M	lax. Process Tempera	ture 35	-	Division	N/A		
lectrical			lay Ineat Process	96	-1	Group	N/A		
ircuit Configuration Si	ngle Phase (P-N) V		ax opset Process	35	- 1	T-Class	v/A		
oltage 1	20	Vac M	lax Product Temp.	1000	95	Autoignition Temp.			
eater Voltage	20	Vac M	lin. Ambient	0	97				
ircuit Breaker Size 2	0	A M	lax. Ambient	104	٩F	Allocation Options			
ircuit Breaker Type	08 ~	s	tart Up Ambient	0	4	Allow Spiraling			
All Heater Sets To S	ingle Breaker					Temperature Control			
Undwidual breaker P	er Heater Set	-	in incomental			Туре	Pipe Sensing		
eference			Chemical Exposure Alice		_	Sensor Segment	Segment 1		
esign Reference 000)1		nemical Exposure INC	ne		Amb. Sensing Setpoir	t		4
ustomer Circuit #		N	Vind 25		mph	Limiter Set Point			
xt. Reference #			instac Information						
Constant Collinson			Heater Style	Heater Fam	ly Selection	,	Installatio	o Method	
Liser Specified Trac	e Ratio		OSeries	(Comput	race Select	ts Heater Family	Fixing Tag	xe/Banding	
Number of Heater Sets		- 112	Parallel	O User Se	lects Heate	r Family	Other	al Abous Centerline	
Trace Ratio per Heater	Set	-		N/A			() Chann	nel Below Centerline	
Pipe Trace Ratio		-		Citing Com	- Marchen for	all Comments			

This list consists of the classification of the plant area where the heat tracing will be installed.

<u>Class:</u> The entries in this list will vary depending on the user selection under the Electrical Codes & Standards in the Set Project Units menu. The selected entry will be applied in determining the maximum pipe and heater sheath temperatures.

<u>Division:</u> The entries in this list will vary depending on the user selection under the Electrical Codes & Standards in the Set Project Units menu.

<u>**Group:</u>** The entries in this list will vary depending on the user selection under the Electrical Codes & Standards in the Set Project Units menu.</u>

<u>T-Class</u>: Drop down list containing the available T-Class options. The content of the list is dependent on the user selection under the Electrical Codes & Standards in the Set Project Units menu.

<u>Autoignition Temp.</u>: Text box for user specified autoignition temperature (AIT). This option is not available when ATEX and IECEx Electrical Codes are specified.

Selections in this group will impact both design calculations and component selection.

Allocation Options Group

ata Heat Up/Cool Di	own							
Analysis Type			Temperatures		Area Classification			
Temperature Mainter	nance	\sim	Maintenance Temp.	40 ºF	Class	Ordinary		
lactrical			Max. Process Temperat	ure 35 of	Division	N/A		
Trait Configuration	Sinde Phase (PJN)	1	Max Upset Process	35 *	Group	N/A		
(oltane	120	Vac	Max Product Temp.	1000 *	T-Class	N/A		
ieater Voltage	120	Vac	Min Ambient	0.00	Autoignition Temp.			
Dircuit Breaker Size	20	A	Max Ambient		Allocation Options			
Circuit Breaker Type	Q08 ~	1	Chart In Arthur 1	104 4-	Allow Spiraling			
Reference Design Reference C Customer Circuit # Ext. Reference #	1001		Environmental Chemical Exposure Nor Wind 25 Heater Information	ne ~	Type Sensor Segment Amb. Sensing Setpoi Limiter Set Point	Pipe Sensi Segment :	ng 1	
Connection Settings			Heater Style	Heater Family Selecti	on		Installation Method	
User Specified Tr Number of Heater S Trace Ratio per Hea Pipe Trace Ratio	ace Ratio ets ter Set		⊖ Series	CompuTrace Sele User Selects Hea N/A Use Same Heater	ter Family ter Family	(Fixing Tape/Banding Channel Above Centerline Channel Below Centerline	

<u>Allow Spiraling Checkbox:</u> If checked, CompuTrace will determine an optimum spiral pitch to most closely match the heater and the heat load. The maximum spiral ratio is determined during the initial project setup and cannot be altered; the maximum spiral ratio set for the project can be viewed set by selecting Preferences > Project Properties. Spiraling is only allowed for parallel heater style. This option will return an error message if series resistance heater style is selected.

Temperature Control Group

Analysis Type			Temperatures		Area Classification			
Temperature Mainte	nance	~	Maintenance Temp.	40 %	Class	Ordinary		
Electrical			Max. Process Temperature	35 %	Division	N/A		
Circuit Configuration	Single Phase (P-N)	1	Max Upset Process	35 %	Group	N/A		
oltage	120	Vac	Max Product Temp.	1000 %	T-Class	N/A		
leater Voltage	120	Vac	Min. Ambient	0 %	Autoignition Temp.			
Dircuit Breaker Size	20	A	Max, Ambient	104 95	Allocation Options			
Circuit Breaker Type	Q08 ~		Start Lin Ambient		Allow Spiraling			
Cindividual Break Reference Design Reference (Customer Circuit # (Ext. Reference # (n her Heater Set		Environmental Chemical Exposure None Wind 25 Heater Information		Type Sensor Segment Amb. Sensing Setpo Limiter Set Point	Pipe Ser	nning ti	
Connection Setting			Heater Style	Heater Family Selection	n		Installation Method	
User Specified T	race Ratio		 Series 	CompuTrace Select	ts Heater Family		Fixing Tape/Banding	
	iets		(Parallel	User Selects Heate	er Family		Channel Above Centerline Channel Below Centerline	

Type: A drop down list containing the control options:

Ambient Sensing: When selected, the Sensor Segment drop down list and Limiter Set Point field are disabled. The Ambient Sensing Setpoint field is enabled. The program will determine the stabilized operating pipe and heater temperatures for each segment of pipe in the circuit under Minimum ambient conditions and for the condition when the ambient temperature is equal to the ambient sensing setpoint. These results will provide an operating temperature range for the pipes in the circuit. The low ambient results, Min Controlled Temperature and Heater Sheath Temperature, will be based on user specified wind and nominal heater output. The calculations performed at the ambient setpoint, Max Controlled Temperature and Heater Sheath Temperature Hi, will also be based on nominal output but will assume no wind.

<u>Pipe Sensing:</u> When selected, the Sensor Segment drop down list will be enabled and the Ambient Sensing Setpoint and Limiter Set Point fields will be disabled. Based on the heat loss and applied power on the pipe indicated by the Sensor located on this segment, CompuTrace will determine the operating temperature for the other pipe segments in the circuit.

NOTE: Hazardous area requirements for designs using this type of control will be validated using stabilized design calculations.

On the Segment Definition pane, the segment chosen to be pipe-sensed, will be depicted with a red line instead of grey:

<u>Controlled Design (w/o Limiter)</u>: Similar to pipe sensing control in that an individual temperature controller, with a single sensor, is used for each heat tracing circuit. This same sensor is used to limit the maximum pipe temperature. This type of control is suitable for use in Zone 2 and Division 2 classified areas to meet T-rating requirements.

<u>Controlled Design (w/Limiter)</u>: A type of pipe sensing control in which a separate controller and limiter device are utilized for each heat tracing circuit. The limiter limits the maximum pipe temperature by de-energizing the tracing circuit when the Limiter Set Point is exceeded. The tracing circuit cannot be re-energized until the user acknowledges the condition. This type of control is suitable for use in Zone 1 & 2 as well as Division 1 & 2 classified areas to meet T-rating requirements.

NOTE: Mechanical thermostats do not meet the requirements for Controlled Design with or without a limiter.

Ambient Proportional Control: A modified version of Ambient Sensing Control. When selected, the Sensor Segment drop down list and Limiter Set Point field are disabled and the Ambient Sensing Setpoint field is enabled. CompuTrace will determine the stabilized operating pipe and heater temperatures under low ambient conditions and when the ambient is equal to the ambient sensing setpoint. The stabilized temperatures under Minimum ambient conditions will be determined using nominal heater output, user specified wind, and 100% heater output. The stabilized temperatures for the ambient conditions equal to the ambient setpoint temperature will be determined assuming no wind, nominal heater output reduced by a proportioning value that can be as low as 20% depending on the values specified. Circuits designed with this type of control are controller-dependent limited.

No Control: When selected, all other input fields in this group (Sensor Segment, Ambient Sensing Setpoint and Limiter Set Point) are disabled. CompuTrace will determine the minimum and maximum controlled (stabilized) operating temperatures for the pipes in the circuit. The lower controlled (stabilized) operating pipe and heater temperatures will be determined based on minimum ambient temperature, wind, and heater output. The upper controlled (stabilized) operating pipe and heater temperature will be determined using the user specified maximum ambient temperature, no wind, and nominal heater output.

<u>Sensor Segment</u>: Drop down list box used to specify which pipe segment in the heat tracing circuit will have the temperature sensor on it. CompuTrace will calculate the temperature of all other pipe segments in the circuit based on the segment on which the sensor is placed.

Ambient Sensing Setpoint: Text box for accepting the ambient temperature below which the heat tracing circuit will be energized. This field is enabled only when Ambient Sensing or Ambient Proportional Control is selected.

<u>Limiter Set Point:</u> Text box for accepting the user specified temperature above which the heat tracing

will be de-energized. This field is only enabled if the Control Design (w/Limiter) option is selected. CompuTrace will use this value as the max pipe temperature when determining the suitability of a design for classified areas.

Heater Information

Heater Style Group

Heat Up/Cool D	nwo							
Analysis Type			Temperatures		Area Classification			
Temperature Mainte	nance	~	Maintenance Temp.	40 °F	Class	Ordinary		
Electrical			Max. Process Temperature	35 %	Division	N/A		
Circuit Configuration	Single Phase (P-N)		Max Upset Process	35 %	Group	N/A		
Voltage	120	Vac	Max Product Temp.	1000 %	T-Class	N/A		
Heater Voltage	120	Vac	Min. Ambient	0.95	Autoignition Temp.			
Circuit Breaker Size	20	A	Max. Ambient	104 95	Allocation Options			
Circuit Breaker Type	Q08 ~		Start Lin Ambient	104	Allow Spiraling			
All Heater Sets T Individual Breake	o Single Breaker r Per Heater Set		Start op Pinolant	U	Temperature Control			
0			Environmental		Туре	Pipe Ser	sing	
Reference		_	Chemical Exposure None	~	Sensor Segment	Segmen	t1	
Design Reference	0001	_	Wind 25	mph	Amb. Sensing Setpoin	nt		
Lustomer Circuit #		-			Limiter Set Point			
:xt. Reference #		_	Heater Information					
Connection Setting			Heater Style	Heater Family Selection	1		Installation Method	
User Specified Ti	race Ratio		○ Series	CompuTrace Select	ts Heater Family		Fixing Tape/Banding	
Number of Heater S	ets		(e) Parallel	User Selects Heate	er Family		Channel Above Centerline	
Trace Ratio per Hea	iter Set			N/A	~		Channel Below Centerline	
Pipe Trace Ratio				Use Same Heater fo	or All Segments			

This group defines whether series or parallel heaters will be used in the design of the heat tracing circuit and which heater families will be presented in the Heater Family Selection field.

<u>Series:</u> Typically used where circuit lengths exceed the limits of parallel resistance heating cables or the design conditions dictate the use of mineral insulated cables. Applications that require high maintenance temperatures or exposure temperatures are best suited for Thermon's MIQ series resistance heating cables.

Parallel: Typically used for freeze protection and process maintenance applications for complex piping.

Heater Family Selection Group

Heat Up/Cool D	own								
Analysis Type			Temperatures			Area Classification			
Temperature Mainter	nance	~	Maintenance Temp.	40 ºF		Class	Ordinary	Ordinary	
Flectrical			Max. Process Tempe	erature	ture 35 or Division	Division	N/A		
ircuit Configuration	Single Phase (P-N)	~	Max Upset Process		35 ºF	Group	N/A		
oltage	120	Vac	Max Product Temp.		1000 °F	T-Class	N/A		_
leater Voltage	120	Vac	Min. Ambient		0 %	Autoignition Temp.			
ircuit Breaker Size	20	A	Max. Ambient		104 %	Allocation Options			
ircuit Breaker Type	QOB	~	Start Up Ambient		0 95	Allow Spiraling			
Individual Breake	or Per Heater Set		Environmental Chemical Exposure Wind	None 25	mph	Type Sensor Segment Amb. Sensing Setpo Limiter Set Point	Pipe Sen Segment	sing1	
Connection Setting	5		Heater Information Heater Style	ſ	Heater Family Selecti	on .		Installation Method	
User Specified Ti Number of Heater S Trace Ratio per Hea Pipe Trace Ratio	race Ratio		⊖ Series		CompuTrace Sele User Selects Hea N/A Use Same Heater	cts Heater Family ter Family for All Segments		Fixing Tape,Banding Channel Above Centerline Channel Below Centerline	

<u>CompuTrace Selects Heater Family</u>: Default for parallel heaters only. User MUST define family for series resistance heaters. CompuTrace will determine the proper heater for the design based on the user-defined requirements. The **Heater Family** drop down list is disabled.

<u>User Selects Heater Family:</u> When selected, CompuTrace will attempt to generate a suitable design for the specified conditions using the userselected heater family.

<u>Heater Family</u>: This drop down list is enabled if **User Selects Heater Family** is selected, allowing the user to select a specific heater to be considered for the current circuit. If the user selects an inappropriate heater, a warning will be presented.

Use Same Heater for All Segments Check Box:

When checked, the same heater will be used for all segments in the circuit. If unchecked, then the program, or designer, can change the heater from one segment to the next using the Segment Data Fields – Input Data – Data Tab in the Heater group. There are certain segment types, such as continuation, that require the use of the same heater as the preceding segment.

Installation Method Group

Analysis Type			Temperatures				Area Classification			
Temperature Mainte	nance	~	Maintenance Temp.		40	qE	Class	Ordinary	nary	
Rectrical			Max. Process Tempe	erature	35	٩F	Division	N/A		
Tro it Confouration	Single Phase (P.N)		Max Upset Process		35	9F	Group	N/A		
/oltage	120	Vac	Max Product Temp.		1000	9F	T-Class	N/A		
leater Voltage	120	Vac	Min. Ambient		0		Autoignition Temp.			
ircuit Breaker Size	20	A	May Ambient		-	-	Allocation Options			
ircuit Breaker Type	006	~	Max. Another		104		Allow Spiraling			
All Heater Sets T Individual Breake	o Single Breaker r Per Heater Set		Environmental				Temperature Contro Type	Pipe Ser	ising	
lesion Reference	001		Chemical Exposure	e None		~	Amb, Sensing Setpoint	nt		
lustomer Circuit #			Wind	25		mph	Limiter Set Point			_
xt. Reference #			Heater Information					_		
Connection Setting	,		Heater Style		Heater Fami	y Selection	1		Installation Method	
User Specified T	race Ratio		◯ Series		CompuTi	race Select	ts Heater Family		Fixing Tape/Banding	
Number of Heater S	ets		Parallel		OUser Sel	ects Heate	r Family		Channel Above Centerline	
Trace Ratio per Hea	iter Set			ſ	N/A		\sim		Ochannel Below Centerline	
Pipe Trace Ratio				, i	Vike Same	Heater fo	r All Segments			

Select from this list the method of attachment for the heater. Not all selections are valid for all heaters. If an invalid selection is made for the type of heater selected, then the default attachment method will be used for design and Bill of Materials considerations.

Fixing Tape/Banding: CompuTrace will select the proper fixing tape or banding based on the selected heater. <u>Aluminum Tape:</u> CompuTrace will calculate the necessary amount of aluminum tape for parallel coverage of each heater pass. This selection will also adjust the heat transfer coefficient between the heater and process pipe, which will modify the heater output, temperatures, and associated amperage. This option is not available for all design applications, temperature limits for the aluminum tape are considered in the design.

Heat Transfer Compound (MIQ Only): CompuTrace will select the proper heat transfer compound based on the temperatures associated with the MIQ design. This selection will also adjust the heat transfer coefficient between the heater and process pipe, which will modify the heater output, temperatures, and associated amperage.

<u>Channels</u>: CompuTrace will calculate the heater output and temperatures assuming the heaters have been pulled through channels and do not have any physical attachment to the process pipe. This will affect the calculation of the heater output, amperage, and temperatures.

When Channels are selected as the installation method, the user can then select whether the channel is installed above or below the centerline of the pipe. This installation method is not allowed for Series cables.

Input Data - Heat Up/Cool Down Tab

This tab will only be enabled if the Analysis Type is set to either Heat Up or Cool Down.

Input Data Design Results Ref. Dwg. Equip. Coord. Data Heat Up/Cool Down Heat Up/Cool Down Initial Temperature Range Cool Down Initial Temperature 0 9F Initial Temperature 40 9F Final Temperature 50 Initial Temperature 50 Desired Time to Temperature 0 9F Final Temperature 50 Product List Naphthalene Nitrobenzene O-xylene Potassium-liquid Potassium-liquid Initial Temperature 50 SAE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil Image: 50 Image: 50 Sodium-liquid Image: 50 Image: 50 Image: 50 Image: 50 Valvata 79 Year Year Year Year	Circuit: 1		
Data Heat Up/Cool Down Heat Up Temperature Range Cool Down Initial Temperature 0 Final Temperature 0 Desired Time to Temperature 0 Desired Time to Temperature 0 Product List Naphthalene Nitrobenzene O-xylene Potassium-liquid Image: SAE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Gear Oil Sodium-liquid Image: SaE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 40 Gear Oil Image: SaE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil Image: SAE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil Image: SaE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil Image: SaE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil Image: SaE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil Image: SaE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil Image: SaE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil Image: SaE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil Image: SaE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil Image: SaE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil Image: SaE 10 Motor Oil S	Input Data Design Results Ref. Dwg. Equip. Coord.		
Heat Up Temperature Range Cool Down Initial Temperature 0 Final Temperature 40 Desired Time to Temperature Desired Time to Temperature 0 Product List Naphthalene Nitrobenzene O-xylene Potassium-liquid P-xylene SAE 10 Motor Oll SAE 30 Gear Oll Sodium-liquid Sulfur-liquid Sulfur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Water	Data Heat Up/Cool Down		
Initial Temperature 0 eF Initial Tem Final Temperature 40 eF Final Temp Desired Time to Temperature 0 hrs Product List Naphthalene Nitrobenzene O-xylene Potassium-liquid P-xylene SAE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Gear Oil Sodium-liquid Sulfur-liquid Sulfur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Water	Heat Up Temperature Range		Cool Down
Final Temperature 40 or Final Temp Desired Time to Temperature 0 hrs Product List Naphthalene Nitrobenzene O-xylene Potassium-liquid P-xylene SAE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Gear Oil Sodium-liquid Sulfur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79	Initial Temperature 0	٩F	Initial Temp
Desired Time to Temperature Desired Time to Temperature Product List Naphthalene Nitrobenzene O-xylene Potassium-liquid P-xylene SAE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Gear Oil Sodium-liquid Sulfur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Water	Final Temperature 40	٩F	Final Temp
Desired Time to Temperature 0 hrs Product List Naphthalene Nitrobenzene O-xylene Potassium-liquid SAE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Gear Oil Sodium-liquid Sulfur-liquid Sulfur-liquid Sulfur-liquid Watar	Desired Time to Temperature		
Product List Naphthalene Nitrobenzene O-xylene Potassium-liquid P-xylene SAE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 90 Gear Oil Sodium-liquid Sulfur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Wyater	Desired Time to Temperature 0	hrs	
Naphthalene Nitrobenzene O-xylene Potassium-liquid P-xylene SAE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Gear Oil Sodium-liquid Suffur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Wyater	Product List		
Nitrobenzene O-xylene Potassium-liquid P-xylene SAE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Gear Oil Sodium-liquid Sulfur-liquid Sulfur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Water	Naphthalene		
O-xylene Potassium-liquid P-xylene SAE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 30 Gear Oil Sodium-liquid Suffur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Water	Nitrobenzene		
Potassium-liquid P-xylene SAE 10 Motor Oil SAE 30 Motor Oil SAE 90 Gear Oil Sodium-liquid Sulfur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Water	O-xylene		
P-xylene SAE 10 Motor Oll SAE 30 Motor Oll SAE 30 Gear Oll Sodium-liquid Sulfur-liquid Sulfur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Water	Potassium-liquid		
SAE 10 Motor Oll SAE 30 Motor Oll SAE 90 Gear Oll Sodium-liquid Sulfur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Water	P-xylene		
SAE 30 Gear Oil Sodium-liquid Sulfur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Water	SAE 20 Motor Oil		
Sodium-liquid Suffur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Water	SAE 90 Gear Oil		
Sulfur-liquid Toluene Valvata 79 Water	Sodium-liquid		
Toluene Valvata 79 Water	Sulfur-liquid		
Valvata 79 Water	Toluene		
Water 👻	Valvata 79		
	Water 👻		

Heat Up Temperature Range

This group will be enabled only if the analysis type is set to Heat Up.

Initial Temperature: Text box for specifying the temperature of the pipe and product at the beginning of the heat up.

<u>Final Temperature:</u> Text box for specifying the temperature at the pipe and product at the end of the heat up.

Cool Down Temperature Range

This group will be enabled only if the analysis type is set to Cool Down.

Initial Temperature: Text box for specifying the temperature of the pipe and product at the beginning of the cool down.

<u>Final Temperature:</u> Text box for specifying the temperature at the pipe and product at the end of the cool down.

Desired Time To Temperature

Desired Time to Temperature: Text box for specifying the desired time to achieve the specified heat up or cool down. If the resulting time is greater than the specified desired time a warning message will be provided in the design result window when Heat Up analysis is selected.

Product List

Product List: List box containing process fluids. When the user selects a process fluid from the Product List, CompuTrace will indicate whether or not the change of phase occurs as well as the temperature at which the phase change happens and the associated Latent Heat.

The list can be extended or modified by clicking the button; which opens a form for viewing properties for each product listed and provides access for editing/adding products. Refer to **Creating/Editing Lists in CompuTrace** in this manual for details.

The results of the Heat Up or Cool Down calculations for each segment are displayed in a graph of Time vs. Temperature on the Segment->Design Results->Heat Up/Cool Down Graph tab.

Design Results – Components Tab

This tab is where the user will define the connection kits, temperature controllers, and other accessories to be included in the Bill of Materials once a circuit has been designed. CompuTrace will show all components for the currently selected circuit. Each circuit will have, at a minimum, a power connection kit and end termination kit. If a segment defined as a Tee splice or splice is included in the circuit, then the program will enable the appropriate group and indicate the default option based on design conditions and approvals requirements. This section of data can only be edited for a validated circuit, and will be cleared if the circuit settings are invalidated.

Connection Kits Tab

mponents Bill of Materia	als	ad Ontiona	
Power Connection	Splice	Tee	End Seal
Override	Override	Override	Override
DP Tag	No image data	No image data	▼ ET-6C

Power Connection Group

Override Power Kit: Defaults to unchecked. When checked, the user may select from the Power Kit drop down list beneath the check box to select a different Power Connection Kit.

<u>Power Kit:</u> Indicates the Power Connection Kit being used. In most cases, the default will be a member of the Terminator family of kits. If the user checks the Override Power Kit check box, then this list will be populated with all kits that are appropriate for the selected design conditions and approvals requirements.

The image box will display a general representation of the selected component.

Tag Number: CompuTrace will indicate the number of Power Connection Kits associated with the selected circuit and allow the user to enter a tag number for each box. Limit will be 10 per circuit.

Splice Group

If the circuit includes Splices, then this group will be enabled.

Override Splice Kit: Defaults to unchecked. When checked, the user may select from the Power Kit drop down list beneath the check box to select a different Splice Kit.

Splice Kit: Indicates the Splice Kit being used. In most cases, the default will be a member of the Terminator family of kits. If the user checks the Override Splice Kit check box then this list will be populated with all kits that are appropriate for the selected design conditions and approvals requirements.

The image box will display a general representation of the selected component.

Tag Number: CompuTrace will indicate the number of Splice Kits associated with the selected circuit and allow the user to enter a tag number for each box. Limit will be 10 per circuit.

Tee Group

If the circuit includes Tee Splices, then this group will be enabled.

Override Tee Kit: Defaults to unchecked. When checked, the user may select from the Tee Splice Kit drop down list beneath the check box to select a different Tee Splice Kit.

<u>Tee Kit:</u> Indicates the Tee Splice Kit being used. In most cases, the default will be a member of the Terminator family of kits. If the user checks the Override Tee Kit check box then this list will be populated with all kits that are appropriate for the selected design conditions and approvals requirements.

The image box will display a general representation of the selected component.

Tag Number: CompuTrace will indicate the number of Tee Splice Kits associated with the selected circuit and allow the user to enter a tag number for each box. Limit will be 10 per circuit.

End Seal Group

Override End Seal Kit: Defaults to unchecked. When checked, the user may select from the End Termination Kit drop down list beneath the check box to select a different End Termination Kit. End Termination Kit: Indicates the End Termination Kit being used. In most cases, the default will be a member of the Terminator family of kits. If the user checks the Override End Termination Kit check box then this list will be populated with all kits that are appropriate for the selected design conditions and approvals requirements.

The image box will display a general representation of the selected component.

Tag Number: CompuTrace will indicate the number of End Termination Kits associated with the selected circuit and allow the user to enter a tag number for each box. Limit will be 10 per circuit.

Controllers and Accessories Tab

onnection Kits Controllers and Accessories MIQ Co	ld Lead Options
Control Method Pipe Sensi	ng
Controller Results Success	
Local Control	Sensors
Mechanical Thermostat	Override Sensor Selection
Electronic Controller	Sensor Options PT100-3L
Controller Serves as Power Connection	Tag 1
Override Control Selection	Tag 2
Controller Options ECM-C-11-P-XP-DP-A	•
Tag	
Tag 2	

<u>Control Method:</u> A text box displaying the control method used in the design of the selected circuit. Reflects the value from the Temperature Control Group on the Setting tab.

<u>Controller Results</u>: A text box displaying the results status based on the chosen control method used.

Local Control Group

Mechanical Thermostat: Design will include mechanical thermostats that are available for the design based on the specified electrical codes and standards requirements.

<u>Electronic Controller</u>: Design will include electronic controllers. Only single point controllers are available at this time.

<u>Exclude Controllers</u>: Controllers of any type will not be included in the Bill of Materials.

<u>Controller Serves as Power Connection</u>: This option allows user to omit the power connection box from the BOM, and should only be checked if the controller is approved to be used as the power connection for the product and area classification indicated for the circuit.

<u>Override Control Selection:</u> Checking this box will enable the Controller Options drop down list

which will be populated with the mechanical thermostats or single point electronic controllers appropriate for the design conditions and approval requirements.

Tag 1 & Tag 2: Reference fields to identify individual controllers by number.

Sensors Group

If an electronic controller is selected then the Sensors group will be enabled. CompuTrace will select an RTD based on the specified Electrical Codes and Standards and controller type.

Override Sensor Selection: Selecting this check box will enable the Sensors Options drop down list. When the user selects this box, CompuTrace will populate the list with all valid options based on the specified controller and Electrical Codes and Standards.

<u>Sensor Options</u>: Drop down listing of all available sensors based on current user design.

Tag 1 & Tag 2: Reference fields to identify individual sensors by number.

<u>Cold Lead Length</u>: Select from the list, the length of cold lead for the heater segment. The list will display the standard lengths by default but the user may enter a length between 4 ft. (1.2 m) and 25 ft. (7.6 m)

<u>Quick Disconnect:</u> Select from the list whether a quick disconnect is to be included and if so, what type.

<u>Attachment Method:</u> Method in which the MIQ heater will be attached to the object being heat traced.

<u>Method of Protection:</u> (Only available for projects using Zones classification method) The user may select the type of protection which can impact the MIQ part number and components.

Notes: Additional comments for the user to enter in regards to the MIQ heater design.

<u>Cold Lead Size:</u> Select from the list the desire gauge for the cold lead. CompuTrace will validate the selection against the circuit amperage to confirm that the cold lead is large enough.

Pulling Eye: Check the box if a pulling eye is to be included.

<u>**Reverse Gland:**</u> Check the box if a reverse gland is to be included.

<u>Use Custom Components:</u> Check the box if custom components are to be included.

Usage Markings: For information only.

MIQ Cold Lead Options Tab

omponents Bill of Ma	iterials	lora.		
Connection Kits Cont	rollers and Accessories MI	Q Cold Lead Options		
Cold Lead Length Quick Disconnect	1.2 v m No Disconnect v	Cold Lead Size Pulling Eye Reverse Gland		AWG
Attachment Method	Tie Wire Stainless Steel Banding	Use Custom Components		
Method of Protection	Ex de 🛛 🗸	Usage Markings General Wet and Weather Re Potable Water Pressure	sistance	
Votes				_
				^

Design Results – Bill of Materials Tab

The Bill of Materials tab allows the user to customize the items and quantities designated for each specific heater segment, but with the added ability to choose items from the design-generated BoM or from a list of template parts. Note template parts can only be created during the project configuration setup when the project is created.

This section also allows the user to view the items and quantities required for the entire circuit in a bill of materials window at the bottom of the screen.

Related Segment		/ Catalog #	Part #	Description	Un	it	Quantity
4 4 Record 0 of 0 > >>	H + - + V X <	<	ádd a template	nært			
Record 0 of 0 > >>	HI + = + V × < Add to Custom Bon	n Entry Part Number	Add a template	part	Quantity		Comment
Image: Segment Connection 1 - Segment 1	Add to Custom Bon Catalog Number BSX 3-1-QJ	n Entry Part Number 2102	Add a template Description Short Self-Resultation Heater	part Unit ft	Quantity	103.4	Comment
et < Record 0 of 0 > > Related Segment Connection 1 - Segment 1 Connection 1 - Segment 1	H + A V X Add to Custom Bon Catalog Number BSX 3-1-OJ FT-1L	n Entry Part Number 2102 40022	Add a template Description Short Self-Regulating Heater Fixing Tape, Polyester 11	part Unit ft	Quantity	103.4	Comment
44 4 Record 0 of 0 > >> Related Segment Connection 1 - Segment 1 Connection 1 - Segment 1 Connection 1 - Segment 1 Segment 1 Segment 1	Add to Custom Bon Catalog Number BSX 3-1-00 FT-1L Q	n Entry Part Number 2102 40022 22200	Add a template Description Short Self-Regulating liteater Fixing Tape, Polyester JJ Caution Label (English).	part Unit ft 0 ft 2 EA	Quantity	103.4 124.35 10	Comment
Id Id Record 0 of 0 Id Id Related Segment Connection 1 - Segment 1 Connection 1 - Segment 1 Connection 1 - Segment 1 Connection 1 - Segment 1 Connection 1 - Segment 1	Im + - Im Im <td>R Brity Part Number 2102 40022 27200 23133</td> <td>Add a template Description Short Self-Regulating Hoster Foung Tape, Polyester 11 Caution Label (English), E4% 1 H</td> <td>part Unit fit 2 fit EA</td> <td>Quantity</td> <td>103.4 124.35 10</td> <td>Comment</td>	R Brity Part Number 2102 40022 27200 23133	Add a template Description Short Self-Regulating Hoster Foung Tape, Polyester 11 Caution Label (English), E4% 1 H	part Unit fit 2 fit EA	Quantity	103.4 124.35 10	Comment
Related Segment Connection 1 - Segment 1 Connection 1 - Segment 1 Connection 1 - Segment 1 Connection 1 - Segment 1	# A of to Custom Bon Catalog Number BSX 3-1-03 FT-1L CL C4K-1-H DP	n Entry 2102 40022 27200 23133 23400	Add a template Description Short Self-Regulating Heater Priving Taoe, Polyester JJ Caution Label (English), ERC_LH Temmator Power Come	part Unit ft 2 ft EA EA c EA	Quantity	103.4 124.35 10 1	Comment

To add to the quantity of an item in the design BoM, highlight it and click Add to Code Member additional quantity entered in the table will be added to the design BoM quantity for the BoM reports. Note the quantities of heater cable cannot be altered for the custom BoM since critical design results such as heater output, loading and cable temperatures are based on the actual design length of the heater cable.

Reference Drawings

This table is available for entering the reference drawings used for the selected circuit. This information is presented on several of the report formats.

Rev	Received	

To add a reference drawing for a specific circuit, the user must first click the 💼 button at the bottom of the table. This will enter a new row in the table. The user can enter the drawing number, revision and date received, and use a drop down list to choose the drawing type.

To enter the selection(s) when finished, click the \checkmark button at the bottom of the table.

Equipment Coordinates

This table is available for entering the heat tracing system equipment coordinates used for the selected circuit. This information is available in the Equipment Coordinates.

Circuit: 000	1					
Input Data Desig	n Results Ref. Dwg.	Equip. Coo	ord.			
Equipment Coord	linates					
Туре	Heater Number	East	North	Elevation	Tag	
He Hecord	0 of 0 • • • • • + -	- × × ·	(Þ

To add coordinates for equipment for a specific circuit, the user must first click the 🛨 button at the bottom of the table. This will enter a new row in the table. The user can use the drop down list to choose the equipment type, and enter the heater number, coordinates and tag number.

Once defined, to enter the selection click the \checkmark button at the bottom of the table.

Segment Data Fields

Input Data – Data Tab

Pipe Group

Segment: Seg	iment 1		
Input Data Design R	lesults		
Data Heat Sink Allo	wances		
Pipe			Information
Туре	CS-40	~	Segment Name Segment 1
Size	2	∼ in	Module
Length	100.0	ft	Work Package
	20		Area
Safety Factor	20	%	Customer Line #
Const. Allowance	0.00	%	Ext. Reference #
Insulation			Customer Drawing #
One Layer	O Two Layers		
Туре	MF	~	neater
Thickness	1	∼ in	CompuTrace Selects Heater
Sizing	Oversized	~	O User Selects Heater
Weather Barrier	Aluminum	~	Heater N/A 🗸
Frankright das	0.10		14/14

Type: This drop down list contains the pipe specifications that are available for this project. CompuTrace will provide some standard pipe specifications but the user may add specifications that can be saved and presented in this list.

The list can be extended or modified by clicking the button; which opens a form for viewing properties for each product listed and provides access for editing/adding products. Refer to Creating/Editing Lists in CompuTrace for details.

<u>Size:</u> This drop down list is populated from the options provided in the Pipe Type.

Length: The length of the segment in the user specified unit of feet or meters.

<u>Safety Factor:</u> Text box for user specified heat loss safety factor. This entry is used to increase the theoretical heat loss when sizing the heat tracing system. For freeze protection and low temperature maintenance applications, a minimum value of 20% is recommended. Higher values are recommended for higher maintenance temperatures.

Default Construction Allowance: Enter a percentage of the design length that should be added to account for field variances and routing. The allowance will be added to the overall heater length when determining heater output, electrical loading and BoM quantities. For MIQ consider at least a 3% allowance to permit 'snaking' of MIQ on straight pipes.

Insulation Group

egment: Seg	iment 1			
nput Data Design F	Results			
Data Heat Sink Allo	wances			
Pipe			Information	
Туре	CS-40	~	Segment Name	Segment 1
Size	2	→ in	Module	
Length	100.0	ft	Work Package	
			Area	
Safety Factor	20	%	Customer Line #	
Const. Allowance	0.00	%	Ext. Reference #	
Insulation			Customer Drawing #	
One Layer	O Two Layers		customer brawing #	
Туре	MF	~	Heater	
Thickness	1	~ in	CompuTrace Sele	ects Heater
Sizing	Oversized	~	O User Selects Hea	iter
Weather Barrier	Aluminum	~	Heater	NIA
	0.12		The Groch	N/A V

<u>One Layer/Two Layers Selection:</u> This control enables the user to select either One Layer or Two Layers of insulation for a Segment design. The default option is One Layer insulation.

Type: This drop down list contains the insulation type specifications that are available for this project. CompuTrace will provide many insulation types based on the ASTM standards as well as some based on European norms (See Editing Lists in CompuTrace for a representative sampling of the insulation types).

The list can be extended or modified by clicking the button; which opens a form for viewing properties for each product listed and provides access for editing/adding products. Refer to Creating/Editing Lists in CompuTrace in this manual for details.

<u>Thickness</u>: Drop Down list contains the insulation thickness values defined for the selected insulation type.

<u>Sizing</u>: The list will allow the user to select line sized, oversized, or pre-insulated pipe insulation. If line sized is selected, then the program will calculate the heat loss based on the insulation size that matches or most closely matches the selected pipe size. If oversize is selected, then the program will calculate the necessary insulation size based on the size and number of passes of heaters that are being used. The last option, pre-insulated pipe refers to pipe that has been prefabricated with insulation sections already attached to it. If this last option is chosen, then the **Channels** option must be selected as the Installation Method (Circuit – Input Data - Heater Information - Installation Method). <u>Weather Barrier</u>: Drop down list that allows the user to select the cladding material. This selection will specify the emissivity of the surface, which is used in the heat loss calculation.

<u>Emissivity</u>: Text box used to display the effective emissivity for the selection in the Weather Barrier drop down list. This field is read-only and does not accept manual input.

If Two Layers of insulation is selected...

Insulation			
One Layer		Two Layers	
Inner Layer Type	MF		•
Inner Layer Thick.	1		▼ in
Outer Layer Type	EP		•
Outer Layer Thick.	2		▼ in
Sizing	Line Sized		•
Weather Barrier	Aluminum		-
Emissivity	0.12		

The user must now specify the type and thickness of the inner and outer insulation layers for designs using composite insulation.

Inner Layer Type: Defines the insulation material of the inside layer of the design. This value is equivalent to its 'Type' counterpart when One Layer insulation is selected.

Inner Layer Thick.: Defines the thickness of the inner layer of the insulation material. This value is equivalent to its 'Thickness' counterpart when One Layer insulation is selected.

<u>Outer Layer Type:</u> Defines the insulation material of the outer layer of the design.

<u>Outer Layer Thick.</u>: Defines the outer layer thickness of the insulation material.

Both Inner and Outer Type lists can be extended or modified by clicking the ... button; which opens a form for viewing properties for each product listed and provides access for editing/adding products. Refer to **Creating/Editing Lists in CompuTrace** in this manual for details.

Information Group

_	courta			
ata Heat Sink Allo	wances			
Pipe			Information	
ype	CS-40	~	Segment Name	Segment 1
Size	2	\sim in	Module	
ength	100.0	ft	Work Package	
- fata Faataa	20		Area	
arety Factor	20	~~~	Customer Line #	
Const. Allowance	0.00	%	Ext. Reference #	
Insulation			Customer Drawing #	:
One Layer	Two Layers		MIO Tag Number	
ype	MF	~		
hickness	1	→ in	Heater	
Sizina	Oversized	~	CompuTrace Sel	ects Heater
- Veather Barrier	Aluminum	~	O User Selects Hea	ater
	0.12			

<u>Segment Name</u>: This is the name assigned to a given segment at creation time. It must be unique within a given circuit, but the user can modify it here.

<u>Module:</u> This is an optional informational field tied to a segment. This field can be used as a key to filter the summary bill of materials by module.

<u>Work Package:</u> This is an optional informational field tied to a segment. This field can be used as a key to filter the summary bill of materials by work package.

<u>Area:</u> This is an optional informational field tied to a segment. This field can be used as a key to filter the summary bill of materials by area.

<u>Customer Line #:</u> This is an optional informational field tied to a segment. The intended use is so that the user can map a pipe segment in CompuTrace to a pipe segment on their line list.

<u>Ext. Reference #:</u> This is an optional informational field to be used as an alternate reference by the user.

<u>Customer Drawing #:</u> This is an optional informational field tied to a segment. The intended use is so that the user can map a pipe segment in CompuTrace to a pipe segment on their drawing list.

<u>MIQ Tag Number</u>: This field is only presented when the design utilized MIQ heaters. This is an optional informational field.

Heater Group

This group is only enabled if the **Use Same Heater for All Segments** checkbox is unchecked on the Circuit - Input Data – Data - Heater Information - Heater Family Selection group. These fields allow the user to select specific heaters for the selected segment.

Segment: Seg	ment 1			
Input Data Design R	esults			
Data Heat Sink Allo	wances			
Pipe			Information	
Туре	CS-40	~	Segment Name	Segment 1
Size	2	∼ in	Module	
Length	100.0	ft	Work Package	
			Area	
Safety Factor	20	%	Customer Line #	
Const. Allowance	0.00	%	Ext. Reference #	
Insulation			Customer Drawing #	
One Layer	Two Layers			
Type	MF	~	Heater	
Thickness	1	~ in	CompuTrace Sele	ects Heater
Sizing	Oversized	~	O User Selects Hea	iter
Weather Barrier	Aluminum	~	Heater	N/A
Emissivity	0.12		Theorem	IN/A V

<u>CompuTrace Selects Heater:</u> When selected, CompuTrace will determine the proper heater for the design based on the user-defined requirements. The Heater drop down list is disabled.

<u>User Selects Heater:</u> When selected, CompuTrace will attempt to generate a suitable design for the specified conditions using the user-selected heater.

Heater: This drop down list is enabled if User Selects Heater is selected, allowing the user to select a specific heater to be considered for the current segment. If the user selects an inappropriate heater, a warning will be presented and corrective actions will be recommended.

Input Data - Heat Sink Allowances

Heat Sin	k Allocation Method	Туре		Size	Specif	Spacin	Qty.	Allowance Multiplier	
Support	Specify Heater Length	Standa	ard Support	2	 Image: A set of the set of the	10	25		
e e e Re	ecord 1 of 1) () ()		s) «						
Me e Re Miscellaneo	ecord 1 of 1)))))		C d	at Sinks					

This tab contains the fields where the designer can allocate additional heater length for valves, pumps, flanges and supports. Supports have the option of specifying a spacing or quantity. If the spacing is entered the program will calculate the number of supports on the segment.

To select a component, the user must first click the button at the bottom of the table. This will enter a new row in the table. Once the heat sinks are defined, to enter the selections click the button at the bottom of the table.

NOTE: CompuTrace Design Suite contains pre-defined heat sinks for the Specify Heater Length and Calculate Heat Loss allocation methods; the Calculate Heat Loss method is only valid for valves and supports. The Equivalent Pipe Length and Specified Power options are included for user defined heat sinks.

<u>Heat Sink:</u> Drop down list containing the basic types of heat sinks that have been defined for this project. CompuTrace will provide many default options but the list can be extended and modified by selecting the **Define Heat Sinks** button on this pane. Part of the definition for the components will be whether the heater allowance comes from a table (user editable) specifying either a heater length, power, equivalent pipe length, or a calculated heat loss.

<u>Allocation Method:</u> Drop down listing of the procedure to be used to calculate the extra heater allowance required based on the heat sink. These methods include "Specify Heater Length", "Specify Power", "Specify Equivalent Pipe Length" and "Calculate Heat Loss". The program comes preloaded with values which are user editable using the **Define Heat Sinks** button.

Type: Drop down list containing the specific types of heat sinks that have been defined for this project. CompuTrace will provide many default options but the list can be extended and modified by selecting the Define Heat Sinks button. Part of the definition for the components will be whether the heater allowance comes from a table (user editable) specifying either a heater length, power, equivalent pipe length, or a calculated heat loss. This field is available dependent on which selection is made from the Allocation Method and Type.

<u>Size:</u> Drop down listing of various pipe sizes appropriate for the heat sink selected. This field is available dependent on which selection is made from the Allocation Method and Type. <u>Specify Spacing:</u> Check box that enables the user to specify the average distance between supports.

<u>Spacing:</u> User defined average distance between supports. This field is available if "Specify Spacing" is checked for supports.

<u>**Qty.:**</u> Text box for the user-specified quantity for the associated heat sink.

<u>Allowance Multiplier:</u> This value will be applied to the default allowance specified.

The lists can be extended or modified by clicking the Define Heat Sinks... button which opens a form for viewing properties for each product listed and provides access for adding new items or editing added items. Refer to Creating/Editing Lists in CompuTrace in this manual for details.

Miscellaneous Group

pu	t Data Des	sign Results								
at	a Heat Sin	k Allowances								
	Heat Sink	Allocation Me	ethod	туре		Size	Specif	Spacin	Qty.	A
۲	Support	Specify Heate	er Length	Standa	rd Support	2		10	25	
144	44 4 Rec	ord 1 of 1 🕨	P# [##] #] <					
Mi	ৰ ৰ Rec	ord 1 of 1 📧			A Define Heat	Sinke				
Mi Te	🔫 🔹 Rec scellaneous rmination A	ord 1 of 1 🕞 s Allowance	1.70	≜ ∕×) ৰ Define Heat	Sinks				
Mi Te Mi	** * Rec scellaneous rmination A scellaneous	ord 1 of 1 F	<pre>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>></pre>	n ✓ ≍	Define Heat	Sinks ment				
Mi Te Mi	** * Rec scellaneous rmination A scellaneous ditional Pov	ord 1 of 1 s Allowance s Allowance wer Required	1.70 0.0 0	ft ft W	Oefine Heat Segment Com typical support	Sinks ment				

<u>Termination Allowance:</u> Specify the length of heater to be allocated for each power/end connection. This field is disable when Series Heater Style on the Circuit - Input Data – Data - Heater Information -Heater Style group

<u>Miscellaneous Allowance</u>: Specify a length of heater for each set to cover a miscellaneous need such as a flow meter or other equipment type not covered in the table above.

Additional Power Required: Specify any additional power requirements over and above the calculated heat loss that additional heater must be allocated for. This is another means of covering a piece of equipment not listed in the table above.

<u>Segment Comment:</u> Information that can be entered by the user for reference only

Design Results – Data Tab

At the end of the design calculations, CompuTrace will enable the Design Results tab showing the Circuit level and Segment level results for the selected circuit. If multiple circuits have been defined, then clicking on the circuit in the Circuit Manager pane will display the results for the selected circuit.

Design Results

Segment: Segment 1								
Input Data Design Results								
Data Heat Up/Cool Down Graph	ı							
Design Results:								
Circuit: Success Segment: Success			^ ~					
Circuit Design Details								
Circuit Operating Load: 1	Circuit Operating Load: 1116 W Circuit Operating Current: 9,3 A							
Circuit Maximum Current: 1	5.6	A Total Heater Leng	gth: 253 ft					
Segment Design Details								
Pipe Data		Heater Data						
Heat Loss: 2.7	W/ft	Catalog Number:	BSX 3-1-OJ					
Total Heater Length: 253.4	ft	Power Output:	3.3 W/ft					
For Piping: 250.0	ft	Trace Ratio per Set:	1.00					
For Valves (0): 0	ft	Number of Sets:	1.00					
For Supports (0): 0	ft	Heater Sheath Temp:	77 °F					
For Flanges (0): 0	ft	Min. Controlled Temp:	40 °F					
For Pumps (0): 0	ft	Max. Controlled Temp:	N/A °F					
Misc. Allowance: 0	ft	Maximum Pipe Temp:	133 약					
For Terminations: 3.4	ft	Max. Cable Temp:	144 °F					
Const. Allowance: 0	ft							
Max Time to Temp: 4.84	hrs							

<u>Circuit:</u> A successful design or an error message will be displayed based on the results of the calculations.

<u>Segment:</u> A successful design or an error message will be displayed based on the results of the calculations.

Circuit Design Details

ata Heat Up/Cool Do	wn Graph				
Design Results:					
Circuit: Success Segment: Success					<u></u>
Circuit Design Deta	ils				
Circuit Operating Load	d: 11	16	W Circuit Operating	Current:	9.3 A
Circuit Maximum Curre	ent: 15	5.6	A Total Heater Len	gth:	253 ft
Segment Design De	tails				
Pipe Data		-	Heater Data		
Heat Loss:	2.7	W/ft	Catalog Number:	BSX 3-1-0	C1
Total Heater Length:	253.4	ft	Power Output:	3.3	w/ft
For Piping:	250.0	ft	Trace Ratio per Set:	1.00]
For Valves (0):	0	ft	Number of Sets:	1.00]
For Supports (0):	0	ft	Heater Sheath Temp:	77] •F
For Flanges (0):	0	ft	Min. Controlled Temp:	40	° F
For Pumps (0):	0	ft	Max. Controlled Temp:	N/A	° F
Misc. Allowance:	0	ft	Maximum Pipe Temp:	133]•=
For Terminations:	3.4	ft	Max. Cable Temp:	144] • F
Const. Allowance:	0	ft			
		-			

<u>Circuit Operating Load:</u> The total applied power for all segments in the circuit.

<u>Circuit Operating Current:</u> The sum of the operating amperage for all segments in the circuit under operating conditions.

<u>Circuit Maximum Current:</u> The sum of the steady state current for all heaters in the circuit under startup conditions.

<u>Total Heater Length</u>: The sum of the entire length of heater for the designed circuit. This may include a mix of different heaters if the heater changes across segments.

Segment Design Details

CompuTrace will display the results for the current segment for both Pipe Data and Heater Data. If multiple segments have been defined, then clicking on the segment in the Segment Definition or Circuit Manager pane will display the pertinent results for the selected segment.

Pipe Data

nput bata beagrinea	4103			
Data Heat Up/Cool Do	wn Graph			
Design Results:				
Segment: Success				Ç
Circuit Design Deta	ils			
Circuit Operating Load	11	16	W Circuit Operating	Current: 9.3 A
Circuit Maximum Curre	ent: 15	.6	A Total Heater Len	pth: 253 ft
Formant Decign De				
Pine Data	Lans		Heater Data	
Heat Loss:	2.7	w/ft	Catalog Number:	BSX 3-1-01
Total Heater Length:	253.4	н, к А	Power Output:	3.3 W/A
For Disingu	250.0	۵. ۵	Trace Date per Setu	1.00
For Piping.	0		hate Rado per Set.	1.00
For valves (0):	•	n In	number or sets:	1.00
For Supports (0):	0	ft	Heater Sheath Temp:	//oŧ
For Flanges (0):	0	ft	Min. Controlled Temp:	409F
For Pumps (0):	0	ft	Max. Controlled Temp:	N/A ºF
Misc. Allowance:	0	ft	Maximum Pipe Temp:	133 9
For Terminations:	3.4	ft	Max. Cable Temp:	144 °F
Const. Allowance:	0	ft		
		1.		

<u>Heat Loss</u>: Displays the calculated heat loss, with safety factor, for the selected segment.

<u>Total Heater Length:</u> Lists complete length of heater for the selected segment.

For Piping: Length of heater for the selected segment that is allocated for pipe.

<u>For Valves(x):</u> Length of heater that is allocated to valves for the selected segment. (X) indicates the number of valves in the segment. Default number is 0.

For Supports(x): Length of heater that is allocated to supports for the selected segment. (X) indicates the number of supports in the segment. Default number is 0.

For Flanges(x): Length of heater that is allocated to flanges for the selected segment. (X) indicates the number of flanges in the segment. Default number is 0.

<u>For Pumps(x):</u> Length of heater that is allocated to pumps for the selected segment. (X) indicates the number of pumps in the segment. Default number is 0.

<u>Misc. Allowance:</u> Length of heater allocated to miscellaneous allowance for the selected segment.

<u>For Terminations:</u> Length of heater allocated to terminations for the selected segment.

<u>Const. Allowance:</u> Length of heater allocated to account for field variances and routing.

<u>Max Time to Temp</u>: The time in hours to achieve the specified heat up or cool down if the analysis type of Heat Up or Cool Down has been selected.

Heater Data

ata Heat Up/Cool Do	wn Graph			
Design Results:				
Circuit: Success Segment: Success				<u></u>
Circuit Design Deta	ils			
Circuit Operating Load	d: 1116	W Circuit Operating	Current: 9.3	A
Circuit Maximum Curre	ent: 15.6	A Total Heater Len	gth: 253	ft
Seament Desian De	etails			
Pipe Data		Heater Data		
Heat Loss:	2.7 W/f	t Catalog Number:	BSX 3-1-OJ	
Total Heater Length:	253.4 ft	Power Output:	3.3 W/ft	
For Piping:	250.0 ft	Trace Ratio per Set:	1.00	
For Valves (0):	0 ft	Number of Sets:	1.00	
For Supports (0):	0 ft	Heater Sheath Temp:	77 ⁰≓	
For Flanges (0):	0 ft	Min. Controlled Temp:	40 ºF	
For Pumps (0):	0 ft	Max. Controlled Temp:	N/A ºF	
Misc. Allowance:	0 ft	Maximum Pipe Temp:	133 ºF	
For Terminations:	3.4 ft	Max. Cable Temp:	144 ºF	
Const. Allowance:	0 ft			
Max Time to Temp:	4.84 hrs			

<u>Catalog Number:</u> Catalog number for the heater selected for the current segment.

<u>Power Output:</u> Output of heater selected for the current segment under normal operating conditions.

<u>Trace Ratio per Set:</u> Ratio of heater length per heater set to unit length of pipe for the selected segment.

<u>Number of Sets:</u> The total number of heater sets required to trace the selected segment.

<u>Heater Sheath Temp:</u> The temperature of the heater under operating conditions.

<u>Min. Controlled Temp.</u>: The minimum temperature the selected segment will be maintained with the currently selected control type, sensor location, and other input data.

Max. Controlled Temp.: The maximum temperature the selected segment will be maintained with the currently selected control type, sensor location, and other input data.

Maximum Pipe Temp.: This is the stabilized pipe temperature assuming the heater is operating uncontrolled and at maximum ambient conditions as defined by the standards body selected under the Electrical Standards and specific area classification indicated in the Environmental group.

Max. Cable Temp.: The heater sheath temperature associated with the Maximum Pipe Temperature.

Design Results - Heat Up/Cool Down Graph

This tab will be available only if the analysis type on the Input Data tab is set to Heat Up or Cool Down.

egmen	t: Segme	ent 1								
nput Data	Design Result	5								
Data Heat	Up/Cool Dowr	Graph								
40										_
35										/
		_								
30	1	/								
	- 20	/								
July 20		/								
u 15	3									
10										
	- and									
	7									
6	0	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	
Max Tir	ne to Temp:	9.25	hrs-		Time (ho	ours): 9.2				
		0120								

The graph represents the heat up or cool down process in a Time vs. Temperature plot for the selected segment.

Generating Circuit Designs

In the circuit design creation process, there are several indicators to alert the user of the status of their current design. The symbol a can indicate that either a design has not yet been generated or a design has already been generated, but has been altered in some manner and so needs to be redesigned.

Circuit Manager Current Default Circuit: System Default Ci	rcuit Num	ber of Ci	rcuits: 1/1	
Design Reference	Drawing	Rev	Sheet	Sheets
Template Circuits				
Segment 1		Α	1	l.

Once a circuit has been defined and the user has attempted to design it, one of four symbols will appear:

Successful design

🗹 Design with caution

In addition to the symbol on the Circuit Manager pane, a warning message will be included in the Design Results tab, such as low temperatures on specific segments. It is the responsibility of the user to determine if the provided warning(s) affect the integrity of the overall design.

🔔 Warning

In addition to the symbol on the Circuit Manager pane, a warning message will be included in the **Design Results** tab. These warnings normally signify that although results are provided, it is up to the user to ultimately decide if the specified design is realistically feasible.

🙆 Error

The Symbol in the Circuit Manager pane indicates an unacceptable value has been entered. This symbol will also appear on the associated Input Data tab, which helps guide the user to the field containing the error. Hover the cursor over the error symbol to see a message stating the nature of the error.

Circuit: Circuit	1					
🛿 Input Data Heater Inf	ormation Design Res	ults	Ref. Dwg.	Equip. Coord.		
Data 🛛 Heat Up/Cool D	lown					
Heat Up Temperature	Range		Cool Dov	vn Temperatur	e Range	
Initial Temperature 20	0	°C	Initial Te	mperature		°C
Final Temperature 🛛	40	°C	Final Ter	mperature		°C
Product List	😢 Heat Up Final Tem	pera	ture must	be greater thar	Heat Up Initial Tempe	erature.

Manage External Load Circuits

File	Design	Preferences	Reports	Help	
2	📬 🔒	a 🔍 🎯 i	# 🖭	🖶 🤃 +	/- 🔣 🗿

This feature opens a window that enables the user to add circuit load data and BoM components to the project from circuits not designed in CompuTrace. Once added, these materials will be included in the project reports.

cuit Manager		_									
New System Defau	lt Circuit	Number of Circu	uits: 0								
lame Pip	e ID #	Area	Work Package	Module	Heater #		Drawin	g	Rev	Sheet	
eater and Insulation	т	emperatures		Area Classification		Ca	atalog #	Part #	Description	Unit	Quantity
otal Heater Length	m M	laintenance Temp.	□ •c	Class	N/A						
isulation Type	Li	miter Set Point	P°C	Zone	N/A						
sulation Thickness	mm M	lax. Exposure Temp	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	Group	N/A						
	M	lin. Ambient Temp.	00	T-Class	Spe						
lectrical	м	lax. Ambient Temp.	00	Autoignition Temp	n I I T						
perating Current	A Ir	formation									
laximum Current	DA PI	roduct Description [
	W Pr	ower Box Tag									
iperating Load	B. B.	TD Tag									
perating Load	1100	an Colice Tag									
perating Load	June T										
Iperating Load	Vac T	ee spille rag									

Clicking New System Default Circuit will add a new circuit to the system, adding the next available number sequence under "Name". The name assigned to this external load circuit can be modified by the user once added, but if not renamed, the number will be skipped when new circuits to be designed are added to the Circuit Manager.

NOTE: This is not the same as either a default Project Circuit or default Template Circuit as there is no design criteria added to the system for this external load circuit.

Once a new circuit name is added, all additional fields are enabled for data entry. This window also has a pane for adding material items associated with the external load circuit to be shown in reports.

When the user is finished adding information for external load circuits, simply closing the window will save the data entered.

NOTE: There are no checks or verifications performed on the data entered, as the information is stored only for inclusion in reports. Circuits names/numbers added through this window will not be represented in any screen views other than reports.

Grid View Layout

New to CompuTrace 6.1 is the addition of a Grid View that allows the user to enter, view and edit circuits in a spreadsheet environment. All data entered in the Circuit and Segment panes will be reflected in the Grid View; likewise, all data entered in the Grid View will be reflected in the Circuit and Segment panes.

The Grid View button found on the tool bar in the Main Design Window will switch the view on the top half of the Design Window between the standard Tree View and the Grid View.

System Default Circuit: 3/3
Drawing Rev Sheets Sheets 1 A 1 1 A 1
15 A 1 A 1 A 1 A 1 A A A A A A A A A A A
1 A 1 A 1
1 A 1 1 A 1
1 A 1
1 A 1 1 A 1
1 A I 1 A I
1 A 1
1 A 1
1 A 1
1 A 1
· · · ·
1 A 1

Standard Tree View

	- Cosig	Col Col col	I see See									
]	<u>_</u> 🛃	Q 98 m	21 2 5	+/- 🖽 🔍								
		Design Reference	Voltage	Circuit Breaker Size	Max Process Temp.	Max. Upset Process	Pipe Type	Pipe Size	Pipe Length	Safety Factor	Insulation (One Layer / Two Layers)	Insulation Inner Layer
1	√	0001	120.00	20	35	35	CS-40	2.00	300.00	20	ONE	MF
2	1	0002	120.00	20	35	35	CS-40	1.50	50.00	20	ONE	MF
3	1	0003	120.00	20	35	35	CS-40	3.00	72.00	20	ONE	MF
4												
5												
6												
7												
8												
9												
0												
1												

NEW Grid View

Since the functions of the Grid View are similar to Excel, the user is able to easily copy and paste multiple circuits and/or multiple design criteria entries quickly.

To add a new default Project Circuit to the design from the Grid View, the user simply clicks on the New Circuit button. To add a new circuit without starting from the default circuit, the user simply enters a new Design Reference name/number in the next blank row.

The Grid View Configuration button found on the tool bar in the Main Design Window opens a window where the user can choose which fields from the Circuit and Segment panes are displayed in the Grid View pane ("Displayed Columns"). The data for all fields in the Circuit and Segment panes is available in the Grid View pane for any specific heater. To create a new circuit with multiple segments, the Segment Name column must be displayed. The user enters a segment name/number in this column leaving the Design Reference column blank.

Circuit	Connection	
Select All	Select All	
Analysis Type	Connection Name Max Process Temp. Max.Uspet Process Max.Product Temp. Min. Ambient Max. Ambient Start Up Ambient	
Segment	OK Cancel	
 Pipe Type ✓ Pipe Size ✓ Pipe Length 		

Creating/Editing Lists in CompuTrace

CompuTrace will use data stored in database tables to determine many values used in the design calculations. Although there will be many values already defined for pipe types, insulation types, various heat sinks and process fluids, the user can add custom values to the lists. Once these custom types have been defined, they become part of the database and will be available for future projects created in the database. The process for defining these custom properties is similar for each component although each one is defined using different types of information.

The functionality of the database record input for the following lists works in the same manner as described previously in the **Heat Sink Allowances** section. Click the button to add a new row and the button to save the entry in the database.

It is important to note that properties for default products are read-only and cannot be modified.

Process Fluid Data



Clicking the button on the Circuit Input Data – Heat Up/Cool Down tab will display the screen of default products below:

	Reference	Description	Read C	inly	
	#6 Fuel Oil			1	*
	50% Caustic Soda			1	
	73% Caustic Soda			1	-
l	Acetic Acid			V	
	Acetone			1	
	Aniline				
1	Asphalt, 10.2Api			1	
į	Benzene			1	
Ī	Cumene			1	
Ì	Cydohexane			V	
l	Diethanolamine			1	
į	Ethanol			1	
Ī	Ethylene Bromide			1	-

Process Fluid Deta	ail			-		×
Process Fluid Data						
Reference						
Display Name						
Description						
Specific Heat	0.000	BTU/b-⁰F				
Density	0.00	lb/ft³				
Use Melting Point						
Melting Point		٩F				
Heat of Fusion		BTU/Ib				
Use Boiling Point						
Boiling Point		٩F				
Heat of Vaporization		BTU/Ib				
Max Temp		٩F				
Promoted						
			Save		Cancel)

<u>Reference:</u> Enter the text that will appear in the Process Fluid list and reports.

Display Name: This field is for reference only.

<u>Description:</u> Enter any additional information to describe the process fluid.

<u>CallUse Melting Point:</u> If the product will go through a phase change, check this box and enter the applicable melting point and heat of fusion.

<u>Use Boiling Point:</u> If the product will go through a phase change, check this box and enter the applicable boiling point and heat of vaporization.

<u>Max Temp.</u>: Enter the maximum allowable product temperature.

<u>Promoted:</u> Check this box if the defined process fluids and properties are to be available for use in other server projects. This will add the process fluid(s) to the server list that will be displayed when "Import" is selected (see below).

***All physical property fields must be filled in to successfully define a new process fluid.

Click on <u>Modify...</u> to **Edit** a user-created process fluid.

Click on **Delete** a default copy or usercreated process fluid.

Click on **Copy** to make a **Copy** of a default or user-created process fluid.

USER TIP: As a time-saving suggestion, instead of having to create a brand new Process Fluid product each time, select a product from the current list that is the most similar in properties as the new Process Fluid and use the 'Copy' button to duplicate it. Then, make the property changes as needed and change the Process Fluid name. Click on to access a list of products and properties that are available on the server for use in other projects.

Click on to close this window and return to the Product List.

Pipe Data

Clicking the button on the Segment Input Data - Pipe Group will display the screen of default pipe types below:

Input Data	Design Res	ults		
Data Hea	at Sink Allowa	ances		
Pipe				
Type		CS-40	-(

) P	Pipe Types		
_	Reference	Description	Read Only
Þ	CPVC-40	Sch 40 CPVC	V
	CPVC-80	Sch 80 CPVC	V
	CS-40	Sch 40 Carbon Steel (ANSI/ASTM B36.10)	v
	CS-80	Sch 80 Carbon Steel (ANSI/ASTM B36.10)	V
	HDPE DR11	High Density Polyethylene DR-11	v
	HDPE DR21	High Density Polyethylene DR-21	V
	PE-40	Sch 40 High Density Polyethylene	v
	PE-80	Sch 80 High Density Polyethylene	V
	PVC-40	Sch 40 PVC	V
	PVC-80	Sch 80 PVC	v
	SS-10	Sch 10 316 Stainless Steel	v
	SS-5	Sch 5 316 Stainless Steel	V
	New Modify	Delete Copy Import	ОК

Click on <u>New...</u> to **Create** a new pipe type and a window opens for the user to enter details.

Pipe Type Details Reference Display Name Description Density 0.0000 Byft ³ Specific Heat 0.00 BTU/b-% Max. Temp. 0 FT Thermal Conductivity 0.00 PTV-FT Prototed Pope Sizes Nominal Chameter Actual ID (n) (n) (n) (n) Sove	Pipe Type Detail		-		×
Reference Display Name Description Density 0.0000 b/ft ³ Specific Heat 0.00 FT Max. Temp. 0 FT Promoted Ppe Sizes Nominal Diameter Actual ID (n) (n) Actual ID (n) (n) Actual ID (n) (n) Sove	Pipe Type Details				
Display Name Description Density Specific Heat 0.000 b/ft ² Specific Heat 0.000 \$Thrmal Conductivity 0.000 \$Thrmal Conductivity 0.000 \$TU-In/hr-ft ² -\$F Promoted Pipe Sizes Nominal Diameter Actual ID (n) (n) Actual ID (n) (n) Seve	Reference				
Description Density 0.000 Density 0.000 Specific Heat 0.00 Max. Temp. 0 P Themal Conductivity Themal Conductivity 0.00 FT FTH-Imal Conductivity Promoted	Display Name				
Density 0.0000 b/ft ^a Specific Heat 0.00 BTU/fb-FF Max. Temp. 0 FF Themal Conductivity 0.00 BTU/in/hr-ft2-FF Promoted	Description				
Specific Heat 0.00 \$TU/lb-9F Max. Temp. 0 \$F Thermal Conductivity 0.00 \$TU/in/fr-ft2-9F Promoted	Density	0.0000 lb/ft3			
Max. Temp. 0 T Thermal Conductivity 0.00 BTU-In/thr-ft2-FF Promoted	Specific Heat	0.00 BTU/b-⁰F			
Thermal Conductivity 0.00 BTU-Inftr-ft2-FF Promoted	Max. Temp.	0 °F			
Promoted Ppe Sizes Nominal Diameter Actual ID Actual OD (n) Actual OD	Thermal Conductivity	0.00 BTU-in/hr-ft2-ºF			
Pipe Sizes Nominal Diameter Actual ID Actual OD (n) (n) Actual OD (m) (m) (m)	Promoted				
Nominal Diameter Actual ID Actual OD (n) (n) (n)	Pipe Sizes				
Image: second	(m)	(m)		(in)	
	H4 44 4 14 144	+ A V X < Save		Cancel	>

<u>Reference:</u> Enter the text that will appear in the Pipe Type drop down list and on reports.

Display Name: This field is for reference only.

<u>Description:</u> Enter a longer description that will appear in the Pipe Type drop down list.

Density: Enter the mass density of the pipe material.

Specific Heat: Enter the specific heat of the pipe material.

<u>Max. Temp:</u> Enter the maximum temperature of the pipe can withstand.

<u>Thermal Conductivity:</u> Enter the thermal conductivity of the pipe material.

<u>Promoted:</u> Check this box if the defined pipe types and properties are to be available for use in other server projects. This will add the pipe type(s) to the server list that will be displayed when "Import" is selected (see below).

Pipe Sizes Table

Enter the dimensional data for each pipe size represented by this pipe type.

Reference		
Display Name		
Description		
Density 0.0000	lb/ft3	
Specific Heat 0.00	BTU/Ib-°F	
Max. Temp. 0	٥F	
Thermal Conductivity 0.00	BTU-in/hr-ft2-°F	
Pipe Sizes		
Nominal Diameter (in)	Actual ID (in)	Actual OD (in)
HKKIDHH	x] ∢	•
H H F BH	x) < Save	Cancel

Nominal Diameter: Enter the value that will be displayed in the Pipe Size drop down list and on reports.

<u>Actual ID:</u> Enter the actual inner diameter associated with the nominal pipe size

<u>Actual OD:</u> Enter the actual outer diameter associated with the nominal pipe size.

Click on <u>Modify...</u> to **Edit** a user-created pipe type.

Click on <u>Delete</u> to **Delete** a default copy or user-created pipe type.

Click on <u>copy</u> to make a **Copy** of a default or user-created pipe type:

USER TIP: As a time-saving suggestion, instead of having to create a brand new Pipe Type item each time, select an item from the current list that is the most similar in properties as the new Pipe Type and use the 'Copy' button to duplicate it. Then, make the property changes as needed and change the Pipe Type name.

Click on to access a list of pipe types and properties that are available on the server for use in other projects.

Insulation Data

Clicking the button under the Insulation Group will display the following screen listing the default insulation types :

Insulation		
One Layer	Two Laye	rs
Туре	MF)
Thickness	1	v in
Sizing	Oversized	•
Weather Barrier	Aluminum	-
Emissivity	0.12	

9) I	nsulation Types		_ 0 _ X
		Reference	Description	Read Only
	Þ	CG	Cellular Glass	
		CS	Calcium Silicate	
		EP	Expanded Perlite	V
		FE	Flexible Elastomer	
		FG	Fiberglass	V
		MF	Mineral Fiber	V
		PI	Polyisocyanurate	v
		New Modify	Delete Copy Import	ОК

Click on to **Create** a new insulation type:

Insulation Type Detail			_ 🗆 🗙
Insulation Type Details			
Reference			
Display Name			
Description			
Max. Temp. 0	٥F		
Min Temp	0E		
Use ASTM C585 Dimensions			
Promoted			
Fromoteu			
Insulation K-Values			
Temperature		Thermal C	Conductivity
			Þ
Insulation Dimensions			
Nominal Insulation Size (in)	Thickness (in)	Actual ID (in)	Actual OD (in)
HHHII I HHHII I I VX] «		Þ
		Save	Cancel

<u>Reference:</u> Enter the text that will appear in the Insulation Type drop down list and on reports.

Display Name: This field is for reference only.

<u>Description</u>: Enter a description that will appear in the Insulation Type drop down list.

Max. Temp.: Enter the maximum temperature the insulation can be exposed to.

Min. Temp.: Enter the minimum temperature the insulation can be exposed to.

Use ASTM C585 Dimensions: Check this box if the insulation being added conforms to the dimensions defined in the ASTM C585. The program will automatically populate the Insulation Dimensions table with the appropriate values. Otherwise, this table must be populated by hand with all insulation dimensions for each thickness and pipe size.

Promoted: Check this box if the defined insulation type and properties are to be available for use in other server projects. This will add the insulation(s) to the server list that will be displayed when "Import" is selected (see below).

Insulation K-Values

Use this table to define the thermal conductivity of the insulation as a function of temperature.

Insulation Dimensions

Use this table to define the insulation dimensions for each pipe size and thickness. If the Use ASTM C585 Dimensions checkbox is checked then this table will be filled in automatically. Nominal Insulation Size: The pipe size this entry would fit.

Thickness: The value displayed in the insulation thickness drop down list and on reports.

<u>Actual ID:</u> Enter the actual inner diameter for this entry.

<u>Actual OD:</u> Enter the actual outer diameter for this entry.

Click on <u>Modify...</u> to **Edit** a user-created insulation type.

Click on **Delete** to **Delete** a default copy or usercreated insulation type:

Click on <u>copy</u> to make a **Copy** of a default or user-created insulation type.

USER TIP: As a time-saving suggestion, instead of having to create a brand new Insulation material each time, select a material from the current list that is the most similar in properties as the new Insulation and use the 'Copy' button to duplicate it. Then, make the property changes as needed and change the Insulation name.

Click on **Import** to access a list of insulations and properties that are available on the server for use in other projects.

Heat Sink Data

When Define Heat Sinks... is clicked for any one of the heat sink allowance types, the following window will appear listing the default heat sinks:

Reference Description Read Only Flange Image Image Image StdFingAllow Standard Flange Image Image StdPmpAllow Standard Pump Image Image CSInvTeeNoNotch CS Inverted Tee Support Image Image CSInvTeeNotched CS Inverted Tee Notched Support Image Image StdSupport Standard Support Image Image StoPLNGBallValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve Image Image	Heat Sinks				X
▶ ■ Flange ▲ StdFingAllow Standard Flange ✓ ■ Pump ✓ ■ StdPmpAllow Standard Pump ✓ ■ Support ✓ ■ CSInvTeeNotAchd CS Inverted Tee Support ✓ CSInvTeeNotAchd CS Inverted Tee NotAchd Support ✓ StdSupport Standard Support ✓ StdSupport Standard Support ✓ 150BWBallValve Class 150 Welded Ball Valve ✓ 150FLNGBallValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve ✓ 150FLNGBtrflyValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve ✓ 150FlingGateValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve ✓ New Modify Delete Copy Import OK	Reference		Description	Read Only	
StdFingAllow Standard Flange Image: Constraint of the standard stand	Flange				•
■ Pump Image: StdPmpAllow Standard Pump Image: StdPmpAllow	StdFingAllo	w	Standard Flange	√	
StdPmpAllow Standard Pump Image: Construct of the support Support CSInvTeeNoNotch CS Inverted Tee Support Image: Construct of the support CSInvTeeNotched CS Inverted Tee Notched Support Image: Construct of the support Image: Construct of the support StdSupport Standard Support Image: Construct of the support Image: Construct of the support StdSupport Standard Support Image: Construct of the support Image: Construct of the support StdSupport Standard Support Image: Construct of the support Image: Construct of the support StdSupport Standard Support Image: Construct of the support Image: Construct of the support New Modify Delete Copy Import OK	🗖 Pump				
Support CSInvTeeNoNotch CS Inverted Tee Support CSInvTeeNotched CS Inverted Tee Notched Support StdSupport Standard Support StdSupport Standard Support Valve ISOBWBallValve Class 150 Welded Ball Valve ISOFLNGBallValve 150FLNGBallValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve ISOFIngGateValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve New Modify Delete Copy Import OK	StdPmpAllo	w	Standard Pump	Image: A start of the start	=
CSInvTeeNoNotch CS Inverted Tee Support CSInvTeeNotched CS Inverted Tee Notched Support StdSupport Standard Support StdSupport Standard Support Valve Valve 150BWBallValve Class 150 Welded Ball Valve 150FLNGBallValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve 150FLNGBtrflyValve Class 150 Flanged Baltterfly Valve 150FLNGBtrflyValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve Vertice Valve Delete Copy Import OK	Support				
CSInvTeeNotched CS Inverted Tee Notched Support StdSupport Standard Support StdSupport Standard Support ISOBWBallValve Class 150 Welded Ball Valve ISOFLNGBallValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve ISOFLNGBaltValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve ISOFLNGBaltValve Class 150 Flanged Balt Valve ISOFLNGBaltValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve ISOFLNGBaltValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve New Modify Delete Copy Import OK	CSInvTeeN	oNotch	CS Inverted Tee Support	V	
StdSupport Standard Support ISOBWBallValve Class 150 Welded Ball Valve ISOFLNGBallValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve ISOFLNGBallValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve ISOFLNGBallValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve ISOFLNGBatrflyValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve ISOFLNGBatrflyValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve ISOFLNGBatrflyValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve New Modify Delete Copy Import OK	CSInvTeeN	otched	CS Inverted Tee Notched Support	Image: A start of the start	
I SOBWBallValve Class 150 Welded Ball Valve 150FLNGBallValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve 150FLNGBtrflyValve Class 150 Flanged Butterfly Valve 150FlngGateValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve New Modify Delete Copy Import OK	StdSupport		Standard Support	\checkmark	
150BWBallValve Class 150 Welded Ball Valve Image: Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve 150FLNGBallValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve Image: Class 150 Flanged BallValve 150FlngGateValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve Image: Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve New Modify Delete Copy Import OK	Valve				
150FLNGBallValve Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve 150FLNGBtrflyValve Class 150 Flanged Butterfly Valve 150FlngGateValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve New Modify Delete Copy Import OK	150BWBallV	/alve	Class 150 Welded Ball Valve	V	
150FLNGBtrflyValve Class 150 Flanged Butterfly Valve Image: Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve 150FlngGateValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve Image: Class C	150FLNGBa	llValve	Class 150 Flanged Ball Valve	\checkmark	
150FingGateValve Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve New Modify Delete Copy Import OK	150FLNGBtr	flyValve	Class 150 Flanged Butterfly Valve	 Image: A start of the start of	
New Delete Copy Import OK	150FlngGat	eValve	Class 150 Flanged Gate Valve	\checkmark	-
New Modify Delete Copy Import OK				Taman 1	
	New	Modify	Delete Copy Import	ОК	

This list contains all of the heat sink entries in the current project. The list is sorted by type (e.g. Flange, Pump, Support, etc.). COMPUTRACE USER'S GUIDE 6.1 - SECTION II

Click on New...

New... to **Create** a new heat sink:

Heat Sink Specification Heat Sink Definition Reference Display Hame Description Short Description Type Valve Promoted		Specify Heater Length Specify Heater Length Specify Power Specify Equivalent Pipe L Calculate Heat Loss	ength
Deprecated	Pipe Diameter (in)	Heater Length (ft)	Maximum Recommended Length (ft)
N N Record 0 of 0 7 10 10 to -	a (*) X 4		Save Cancel

<u>**Reference:**</u> A Text Box field which contains a short alphanumeric string used to identify this component in the tables.

Display Name: This field is for reference only.

<u>Description</u>: A Text Box field which contains a description of the component to be displayed in drop down lists and reports.

<u>Short Description:</u> A Text Box field which contains a short description of the component to be displayed in drop down lists and reports.

Type: Drop Down List which displays the options the user can select from to define the type of heat sink. Options will be Flange, Valve, Pump, or Support.

<u>Promoted:</u> Check this box if the defined heat sinks and properties are to be available for use in other server projects. This will add the heat sink(s) to the server list that will be displayed when "Import" is selected (see below).

<u>Deprecated</u>: In previous versions of CompuTrace this feature indicated a value included for historic purposes only, which could not be added to new projects. This was used to avoid compatibility issues with imports from older versions.

<u>Specify Heater Length:</u> When selected, CompuTrace will include the Heater Length column for the user to populate for each pipe size.

Reference	Specify Heater Length	
Display Name Description Short Description Type Valve Promoted	 Specify Equivalent Pipe Leng	ph.
	the start seattle	Maximum Recommended Length

<u>Specify Power:</u> When selected, CompuTrace will include the Total Watts column for the user to indicate the required power to be applied for each pipe size.

Reference	0	-	Specify Power	_
Description	•		Calculate Heat Loss	
Type Promoted	Valve	•		
	baracated	Pipe Diameter	Total Watts	Maximum Recommended Length

<u>Specify Equivalent Pipe Length:</u> When selected, CompuTrace will include the Equivalent Pipe Length column for the user to enter the equivalent pipe length for each pipe size.

Heat Sink Spe	cification			
Heat Sink Definit Reference Display Name Description Short Description Type Promoted	lon	×	Specify Heater Length Specify Equivalent Pipe Lengt Conclusion Have Cores	Ð
De	precated	Pipe Diameter (in)	Equivalent Pipe Length (ft)	Maximum Recommended Length (ft)

<u>Calculate Heat Loss</u>: This option will only be available when the user specifies either Valve or Support in the Type drop down list. When selected, CompuTrace will provide the following columns for the user to complete for each pipe size:

Valve: Face to Face Dimension, Fin Thermal Conductivity, Stem Diameter and Flange Diameter

Heat Sink Definiti	on						
Reference Display Name Description Short Description	testref test use		Specify Heate Specify Powe Specify Equity Calculate Heate	er Length r alent Pipe Length it Loss			
Type Promoted	Valve	~					
Deprecate	d Pipe Diameter	Face to Face Dimension	Fin Thermal Conductivity	Stem Diameter	Maximum Recommended Length	Flange Diar	neter

Support: Fin Thermal Conductivity, Support Length, and Support Thickness

Reference Display Name	ion 8		pecify Heater Length pecify Power pecify Foulyalent Pine	Length			
Description	8	() c	alculate Heat Loss				
Type	Support Notched	•					
		Deprecated Pipe Diameter (m) Fin Thermal Conductivity (BTU-in/hr-ft2-FF) Support Length (m) Support Thickness (m) Maximum Recommended Length (ft)					

These values will be used to determine the heat loss from the component.

NOTE: That all tables contain the Maximum

Recommended Length column. This value is used to determine if the user has specified a condition that requires more heater than can actually be installed on the component. If this occurs, then the program will issue a warning on the design.

	tion						
Reference	0		() S	oecify Heater Length			
Display Name	y Name ption O			Specify Power Specify Equivalent Pipe Length Calculate Heat Loss			
escription							
Short Descriptio	n						
Type	Support	~					
<u> </u>	and a standard and						
	Notched						
Promoted							

Notched Pipe Supports : The calculation of the heat loss from an inverted T pipe support is performed assuming an infinite fin model. The resistance to heat flow through the insulated portion of the support is considered as pure conduction. The temperature of the support as it emerges from the insulation is treated as the base temperature of an infinite fin. Either of two cases can be considered, one without a notch and one with. The case without a notch is calculated as described above. The case with a notch is modified to consider the reduced contact area with the pipe and models the heat transfer across the notch as convective heat transfer. This modification impacts the base temperature for the infinite fin.

The functionality of the database record input works in the same manner as described in the **Heat Sink Allowances** section.

Click on <u>Modify...</u> to **Edit** a user-created heat sink.

Click on **Delete** to **Delete** a default copy or usercreated insulation type.

Click on **Copy** to make a **Copy** of a default or user-created heat sink.

USER TIP: As a time-saving suggestion, instead of having to create a brand new Heat Sink item each time, select an item from the current list that is the most similar in properties as the new Heat Sink and use the 'Copy' button to duplicate it. Then, make the property changes as needed and change the Heat Sink name.

Click on **Import** to access a list of heat sinks that are available on the server for use in other projects.

Using the Search and Replace Feature

CompuTrace Design Suite provides the ability to search and replace a variety of properties at the project, circuit and segment levels:

Search and Replace	
Search and Replace Mode Search Only Search and Replace Replace Values For Whole Project Circuits Connections Segments CircuitReferenceDrawings Search and Replace Property To Search/Replace: Select property from list Find Replace with Replace All Values	Circuits and Segments Name 0001 Connection 1 Segment 1 0003 Connection 1 Segment 1 0003 Connection 1 Segment 1
	Find Close

Search and Replace Mode: The user will be able to select from searching for a specific value only or searching as well as replacing the value with a specified input value.

<u>Replace Values For:</u> This collection will contain a radio button grouping in which the user must select one of five options: Whole Project, Circuits, Connections, Segments or Circuit Reference Drawings. Note that this grouping is only activated if the Search and Replace radio button is selected.

The tree diagram on the right will be empty or disabled if a project-level replacement is selected.

<u>Property to Search/Replace:</u> A drop down box which specifies the category to be searched and/or replaced by both its Entity Type and Property. The user can only replace one type of property at a time.

Find: The user specifies the value to be searched for in the category chosen in the Property to Search/ Replace drop down box.

<u>Replace with:</u> The user specifies the replacement value to be used based on input from the Find textbox for the category chosen in the Property to Search/Replace drop down box. Note that this grouping is only activated if the Search and Replace radio button is selected.

<u>Replace All Values</u>: By checking this checkbox, all values will be replaced with the specified value in the chosen circuits or segments, and the Find textbox will be disabled. Note that this grouping is only activated if the Search and Replace radio button is selected.

<u>Circuits and Segments</u>: This panel is a tree control interface with multi-select functionality. The user will select the circuits or segments they wish to replace values for. For example, selecting a circuit while doing a segment-level replace should apply to all segments in that circuit.

Section III. CompuTrace for Server Projects

Using Server Projects

When working on a project to be saved on a server, the user will select **Remote Projects** at the **Select Project** screen after opening CompuTrace.

Project Number	Project Name	Last Modified	Version
L			
Active Server Connection: Thermon 6 1	Server		
Local Projects Remote Projects			
Import			
😂 Select a Project Database: Comp	uTraceServer.6.1.5.13 - USSMCT6PRD	-	

Connecting to a New Server

To connect to a new server select the **Remote Projects** tab on the Select Project screen, open the Active Server Connection drop down list and select **Connect to new server...**

Select a Project Database: CompuTraceServer.6.1.5.13 - USSMCT6PRD	-	\times
Import		
Local Projects Remote Projects		
Active Server Connection:		~
Connect to new server>		

The user will need to enter the required information to connect to a new server.

Server Connection Details	×
Custom DB Connection	
Database Connection String	
Server Display Name	
Connect	Cancel

Check the Custom DB Connection box and enter the connection string in the Database Connection String field.

The Server Display Name is the name selected for this server connection to be displayed in the Active Server Connection drop down list on the Select Project Server Projects tab. When all information is entered, click Connect.

Database o	loes not exist	\times
?	Connection requires the creation of a new local database. Do you want to create one?	
	<u>Y</u> es <u>N</u> o	

When prompted to create a new local **database**, click Yes.

Success		×
1	Server connection created successfully.	
	ОК]

Once the server connection is complete, the Server Projects screen will return.

CompuTrace can store connections to multiple servers. To do this, repeat the above process for each server to be added. To switch between servers use the **Active Server Connection** drop down list to select the desired server.

Connecting to an Existing Server

This type of project mode is for users working in collaboration with other users on a project via a shared server. On the Server Projects tab, open the Active Server Connection drop down list to select the server to be used. This screen shows the current projects available in this server. In the example shown below there are three projects that have already been created by other users.

😂 Select a Project Data	abase: CompuTraceServer.6.1.5.13 - USSMCT6PRD —
Import	
Local Projects Remote Proj	ects
Active Server Connection:	Thermon 6.1 Server
	<connect new="" server="" to=""></connect>
Project Number	Thermon 6.1 Server
▶ 1	
10-1004D: RFP-5642	
103000000	

Import Options for Remote Projects

As noted previously in this manual, the **Select Project** screen includes an **Import** feature. When the **Remote Projects** tab is selected, this feature offers the same option of importing from an xml file as when the **Local Projects** tab is selected.

😂 Select a Project Database:				
Import				
Import File				

Server Projects Tab

The following is a list of actions possible from the Server Projects Tab.

Create a New Remote Project

To create a new Remote project, click **New Project** to open the **Create New Project Wizard**.



Connect to an Existing Remote Project

To connect to an existing remote project that another user has created and saved, click on the Project Name to be opened and then click **Open Project** at the bottom of the screen.

New Project	Open Project	Delete Project





THERMON

7171 Southwest Pkwy | building 300 suite 200 | Austin, TX | 78735 | United States

TMP0050-0223

www.Thermon.com